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THE ENGLISH ANCESTRY OF GOV. THOMAS WELLES 
OF CONNECTICUT 

Fon some years the contributor of this article has been collecting 
data relating to Gov. Thomas Welles, with a view to publishing a 
detailed history of his life and of early Connecticut. In 1919 he 
employed Mr. J . R. Hutchinson, the London genealogist, who 
searched through Welles wills in seventeen English counties and 
found the name mentioned many times, but was unable to identify 
any Thomas Welles in England with the Connecticut Governor of 
that name. Mr. Hutchinson, however, furnished a memorandum 
of a five-party deed relating to real property in the parish of Burm­
ington, co. Warwick, which, he stated, was from the original deed 
preserved among the Sheldon Charters in the BrJtish Museum. 
He called attention to its importance, and searched the transcript 
of the Burmington parish registers in the Bishop's Registry at 
Worcester (the original Burmington registers being in very bad 
condition), as well as the churchwardens' books, indentures, etc., 
contained in the parish chest, without finding anything bearing 
on Gov. Thomas Welles.* Recently, however, Col. Charles E. 
Banks, to whom the writer sent a memorandum of this deed, found 
some ·pleadings and depositions in a Chancery suit brought in 
England ill 1648 relating to the property covered by this deed, which 
give the names of Gov. Thomas Welles's father, grandfather, wife, 
and wife's father. In addition to these documents, Colonel Banks 
found the fine and concord relating to the Burmington property 
a.nd also, in the Birmingham Public Library, one original of the 
five-party deed. Abstracts of these documents and of other English 
records relating to this Welles family are given below,t and are 
followed by a pedigree which shows the line of descent from the 
grandfather of Governor Welles. to the Governor's grandchildren. 

Until the discoveries described above were made, for which credit 
is due Colonel Banks, nothing whatever was known of Gov. Thomas 
Welles previously to his appearance as a member of the Court held 
at Hartford, 28 Mar. 1637. The old black-letter Welles family 
Bible containing manuscript records, with many ancient papers, 
was burned when the house of the writer's grandfather was destroyed 
by fire at Newington, Conn., in 1855. There are many autographs 
of Gov. Thomas Welles, and he wrote his surname many times when 
he was secretary of the Colony, always spelling Welles with a sec-

*Durmington is in tho Routhcrn part of Warwicks hire, on tho River Stour, two miles southeast 
from ShiPRton-on-St our. 'l'ho Dishop's transcript of tho pnrish registers r.ontnins no \ Voiles entries 
between 1612 nnd 1630, except n mnrringo in 1638. There is no trnnscrlpt for the yonrs 1014, 
1617, 1018, 1623, 1620, nnd 1634. A copy of tho Burmingt.on registers mndc In 1895 shows no 
enttics for tho yonrs J602-1615, but contains no statement thnt tho rcgistor• wrre illciiiblo for 
thoso yenre. Entries arc complete for the yc,.rs 1616-1622, but there are no cntric• for 1623. 

tin thcso nbstrncts unneccssnry logo! verbiage hns b een omitted, nn<I no attempt hus been mnde 
to reproduce tho pcculinritics of spelling of the originals, except in n few pnssa~cs, which hrwe been 
enclosed in quotation marks, nnd in n omcs of persons, which bnvo been spelled ns tho records give 
tliom. Tho punot1wtion is tlu\t of the contributor. 
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ond e. In documents written by others the name is generally spelled 
Wells, and t he writer uses this spelling when quoting from these 
docum1,mts. 

A FIVE-PARTY DEED, 1638* 

"Tms I NDENTURE Quintip[ar]tite," made 10 May, 14 Charles I [1638], 
between "Thomas Wells of Hartford by the river of Connectocott in New 
England gent," the Honorable James Fiennes, son and heir apparent of the 
Right Honorable the Lord Viscount Say and Seale, and Will.iam Sprigg of 
Banbury, co. Oxford, gent., of the first part, George Neale of Weston, co. 
Warwick, yeoman, of the second part Nicholas Hunt of Burmington, co. 
Warwick, yeoman, of the third part, Giles Toms of Burmington aforesaid, 
yeoman, of the fourth part, and Thomas Neale of Oxshill, co. Warwick, 
yeoman, and Richard Workman of Stourton, co. Warwick, yeoman, of the 
fifth part, recites that, whereas the said Thomas Wells, by his indenture 
dated 20 August, 11 Charles I [1635], did grant unto the above-named 
James Fiennes and William Sprigg and theil- heirs for ever all that one 
messuage and tenement in Burmington, with the yard, orchard, garden, 
and one t ithe close thereunto belonging and adjoining, late in the occupation 
of the said Nicholas Hunt, his assign or assigns, and two yardlands and a 
half in Burmington to the said messuage and tenement belonging, late in 
the occupation of Nicholas Beale and the said Giles Tomes, and one cottage, 
with the close or backside and orchard thereunto adjoining and belonging, 
now or late in the tenure or occupation of one Richard Nason, his assign or 
assigns, and also one close in Burmington, called Broad Close, late in the 
occupation of one Rober t Heminge, his assign or assigns, with all the build­
mgs, yards, orchards, gardens, closes, lands, meadows, pastures, commons, 
etc., to the said premises belonging, and by the said recited indenture did 
coven.ant to make such further assurance of the said premises to James 
Fiennes and William Sprigg and their heirs as by them or their counsel 
learned in the laws of this realm should be reasonably devised or advised 
and required, and whereas, in pursuance of the said indenture, afterwards, 
in Hilary Term, 12 Charles [11-31 January 1636/ 7], one fine was in due 
form of law acknowledged, levied, and executed by the said Thomas Wells 
and Alice, his wife, to James Fiennes and William Sprigg and their heirs, 
of all the said premises in Birmington, and whereas James Fiennes and Wil Liam 
Sprigg, in consideration of £685 by the above-named George Neale, Nicholns 
Hunt, and Giles Toms, viz., £545 by George Neale, £ ll0 by Giles Toms, 
and £30 by Nicholas Hunt, to James Fiennes and William Sprigg in hand 
paid, the receipt whereof James Fiennes and William Sprigg do hereby 
acknowledge, by these presents have granted the said premises, with their 
appurtena.nces, to George Neale, J iles Tomes, and Nicholas Hunt, severally 
and respectively, and to their several and respective heirs and assigns, 
according to such proportions as is herein hereafter expressed, now this in­
denture witnesselh that for the better conveying of the said premises to 
George Neale, Giles Toms, and Nicholas Hunt, severally and respectively, 
and to their several and respective heirs, James Fiennes and William Sprigg 
do for themselves nnd their heirs covenant with George Neale, Giles Toms, 
and Nicholas Hunt, their heirs and assigns, that they, James Fiennes and 
William Sprigg, will suffer the said Richard Warckman, Thomas Neale, 
and Nicholas Hunt, at any time before the Feast of Easter next [Easter 
1639], to bring one or more \nit or \nits of entry for disseisin before His 
Majesty's Justices of His Court of Common Pleas at Westminster against 
James F iennes and William Sprigg, by such name or names as shall be thought 

*Preserved in the Ilirmini:ham Public Library. 
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meet, to which writ or writs James Fiennes and William Sprigge shall appear 
gratis in their own persons and vouch over to warranty the said Thomas 
Wells, who shall also appear gratis in hjs own person or by his sufficient 
attorney or attorneys and shall enter into the warranty and vouch over the 
common vouchee, to the intent that a perfect recovery may be thereupon 
had and suffered of the said premises, according to the nature and course of 
common recoveries, against James Fiennes and William Sprigg to Richard 
Warckman, Thomas Neale, and Nicholas Hunt; and it is covenanted 
between all the parties to these presents, for them, their heirs, and assigns, 
that Richard Warckman, Thomas Neale, and Nicholas Hunt, the recoverees 
therein named, and their heirs shall be seiscd of all the premises therein 
contained to the uses and purposes herein hereafter expressed, that is to 
say, the said messuage and tenement, garden and close adjoining, and close 
called Broad Close, and so much of the arable land and pasture and meadow 
ground esteemed to be two yard.lands to the use of George Neale and of his 
heirs and assigns for ever, and so much of the said arable land and pasture 
ground and meadow ground esteemed to be one-half yardland to the use of 
Giles Tomes and of his heirs and assigns for ever, and the said cottage, 
orchard, and backside, with the appurtenances, in the tenure or occupation 
of Richard Nason, to the use of Nicholas Hunt and of his heirs and assigns 
for ever. 

[The indenture contains various other cove.nants by Fiennes and Sprigg (who 
were the only parties who signed the copy in the Birmingham Public Library) 
the purpose of which was to guarantee to Neale, Tomes, and Hunt the peaceable 
possession of the premises described. With the deed are lengthy terriers or sched­
ules giving detailed descriptions of the premises ~ranted to Neale and Tomes. 

The importance of this deed consists in its identification of Gov. Thomas 
Welles of Connecticut as the owner and grantor of the Burmington property, 
in distinction from his contemporary i.n New England, Thomas Wells of Ipswich, 
Mass. It also discloses the Christian name of Governor Welles's wife.] 

FROM FEET OF FIN.ES* 

Final Concord made in the King's Court at Westminster, on the Octave 
of St. Hilary, 12 Charles I (20 January 1636/7), between James Fiennes, 
Esq., and William Sprigge, Gent., querents, and Thomas Wells and Alice, 
his wife, deforciants, . concerning one messuage, one garden, one orchard, 
fifty acres of arable land, four acres of meadow, thirty acres of pasture, six 
acres of heath and fi.rzes, and common pasture, with appurtenances, in 
Birmington. Plea of covenant. Jame.g [sic] and Alice have acknowledged 
the aforesaid tenements and common pasture, with appurtenances, to be 
the right of James, as those which James and William have of the gift of 
Thomas and Alice, and they have remised and quitclaimed them from 
Thomas and Alice and their heirs to James and William and the heirs of 
James for ever. And, moreover, Thomas and Alice have granted for them­
selves and the heirs of Thomas that they will warrant to James and William 
and the heirs of James the aforesaid tenements and common pasture, with 
appurtenances, against Thomas and Alice and the heirs of Thomas for ever . 
And for this ·James and William have given to Thomas and Alice £100.t 
(Feet of Fines, Warwickshire, Trinity Term, 12 Charles I.) 

[This final concord covered the property at Burmington, co. Warwick, de­
scribed in the five-party deed.] 

Commission [in Latin), dated 5 April , 12 Charles (1636), from the King's 
Court at Westminster, a.nd directed to John Harvey, Knight, Thomas 

*Preserved in the Public Record Office, London. 
tTrnnslnted from the Lntin and abridged. 



6 The English Ancestry of Gov. Thomas Welles 

Haines, Esq., John Wenthropp, Esq., Thomas Dudley, Esq., and Thomas 
Makepeace, Gentleman, empowering them or any two of them to take the 
acknowledgment of Thomas Wells and Alice, his wife, to a final concord 
between James Fiennes, Esq., and William Sprigge, Gentleman, and Thomas 
Wells and Alice, bis wife, concern.ing one messuage, one garden, one orchard, 
fifty acres of arable land, four acres of meadow, thirty acres of pasture, 
six acres of heath and firzes, and common pasture, with appurtenances, in 
Birmington, co. Warwick, and to return it to the Justices of the King's 
Court. 

Acknowledgment [in Latin] of Thoma5 Welles and Alice Welles to a final 
concord concerning premises in Birmington, co. Warwick [as described in 
the commission given above], taken in Boston in New England, before 
Jo: Winthrop and Tho : Dudley, 9 J une, 12 Charles, A.D. 1636. [Signed] 
"Tho: Welles Als Welles her marke." 

[The ,signature of Thomas Welles to this acknowledgment is the well-known 
autograph of the Connecticut Governor, such as he often used later in Connecti­
cut, and is additional proof that he owned and granted the Burmington property. 
He also wrote the words "Als Welles her marke.'' This acknowledgment proves 
that he and his wife were in Boston, Mass., on 9 June 1636, more than nine 
months before the record of his first appearance in Connecticut, 28 Mar . 1637. 
This may indicate that the "Tho. Wells" who is recorded in the Cambridge 
(Mass.) town records, under date of 8 Feb. 1635 [i.e., 1635/6], as having a house 
in that town, was the same man as the Connecticut settler of that name.] 

FROM CHANCERY PROCEEDINGS* 

28 [illegible] 1648. To the Right Honorable the Commissioners for the 
Custody of the Great Seal of England. · 

The complaint of Jo&'1 WELLS of Tidmington, co. Worcester, and ROBERT 
WELLS, eldest son and heir apparent of the said orator John Welles, the said 
Robert being an infant of the age of ei~teen years or thereabouts and not 
above, by your orator, John Welles, his father and guardian, shows that, 
whereas Walter Wells, your orator John Welles his great-grandfather, 
deceased, was in his lifetime, that is to say, about fifty years since, lawfully 
seised in his demesne as of fee of one messuage or tenement, two yardlands 
and a half yardland, and two closes of arable meadows and pasture ground, 
with appurtenances, in [B]w·mington, co. Warwick, of the yearly value of 
£30 or thereabouts, and the said Walter Wells1 for the better settling of the 
said messuage and lands in the name and blooct of him, Walter Wells, did by 
feoffment and other good al'\(i sufficient conveyances, about fourscore years 
now last past, grant the said messuage and lands to the use of himself for 
life and afterwards to the use of Robert Wells, his eldest son, for the term. of 
his life, and after the several deceases of the said Walter Welles and Robert 
Welles to the use of the first son or heir male of the body of the said Robert 
Wells lawfully begotten and of the heirs males of such first son or heir male 
lawfully begotten, and for the want of such heirs to the second, third, and 
four th sons of the body of the said Robert Wells successively and to the 
heirs males of the body of every such sons successively, and for default of 
such issue to the right heirs of the said Waltei:. Wells for ever, and the said 
Walter Wells, being of the said premises seised, about fourscore yea.rs since 
died, after whose decease Robert Wells, your orator's grandfather, entered 
into the said premises and became thereof seisecl in his demesne as of freehold 
for the term of his life, and, the sa.id Robert Wells having issue Robert Wells, 
his eldest son, late father of your orator John Wells, and one Thomas Wells, 
a second brother, he, Robert Wells, grandfather of your orator John Wells, 

~Prcserv~d in tho Public Record Office, London. 
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and Robert Wells the son, father of your orator John, did, as hath been 
lately pretended and affirmed, for the better maintenance and livelihood of 
the said Thomas Wells, about the si> .. i;h year of the reign of King James 
[1608], make a deed for settling and assuring the messuage and lands in 
Burmington unto Thomas Wells for the lives of your orator John Wells 
his grandfather and father or for the life of Thomas Wells or to such or the 
like effect, the certainty whereof your orator cannot express, by pretence 
and color whereof Thomas Wells, as is also pretended, entered into the 
messuage and lands in Burmington and became thereof seised, as is likewise 
pretended, in his demesne as of freehold for term of his life or for the term 
of the lives of Robert Wells and his son Robert Wells, grandfather and father 
of your orator John Wells, or of some such estate or t itle, the certainty whereof 
is as yet unknown to your orators, the remainder thereof upon the decease 
of Thomas Wells or upon the several deceases of Robert Wells, your orator's 
grandfather, and Robert Wells, father of your orator John Wells, unto the 
first son of the body of Robert Wells the grandfather and the heirs males 
of the body of such first son, with remainders as aforesaid, and, Thomas 
Wells being in possession of the aforesaid premises, Robert Wells, your ora­
tor's father, having issue your orator John Wells, his eldest son and heir, 
Robert Welles, your orator John Wells his grandfather, about twenty-nine 
years since died, and Robert Wells, father of your orator John Wells, about 
twenty years since also died, and the said Thomas Wells about twelve years 
since, having a desire to travel beyond the seas and being charged with the 
payment of £700 or thereabouts for legacies due to the younger children 
of Robert Wells, father of your orator John Wells, did resolve so to settle 
the said premises that the same should be, as he pretended, a security for 
payment of the said legacies and after the decease of Thomas Wells should 
remain unto your orator John Wells as eldest son and heir of Robert Welles 
the father, [who was] eldest son and heir male of Robert Wells the grand­
father, and [unto] the heirs males [of your orator], and to that end and pur­
pose the said Thomas Wells did by deed or conveyance or by his last will 
and testament in writin'g.s:Jeclare·in what manner the said messuage and lands 
had been settled upon him by his father and eldest brother and did therein 
settle or convey the same to the uses aforesaid, and shortly after Thomas 
Wells took his voyage to sea and took with him two sons and one dau~hter, 
which are long since dead, and Thomas Wells surviving (all his children 
being dead) about five years since died also, without any issue of his body 
living at the time of his decease. After the decease of Thomas Wells the 
messuage and lands in Burmington descended, as of right the same ought to 
descend, unto your orator John Wells, as first and eldest son and heir male 
of Robert Wells his father, [who was] the first and eldest son and heir male 
of Robert Wells tho grandfather, [who was] son of Walter Wells, and your 
orator John Wells accordjngly entered into the said messuage and lands~ 
and became thereof lawfully seised in his demesne as of fee t,ail to him ana 
the heirs males of his body; and your orator John Wells, being so thereof 
seised, for the better maintenance and livelihood of your orator Robert 
Wells his son, about one year since did by his lease in writings grant the mes­
suage and lands in Burmington unto your orator John Wells his son, for the 
term of four years, at a small yearly rent, hoping that the said Robert Wells 
might have peaceably and quietly held and enjoyed the same without any 
claim or interruption whatsoever. But now one George Neale of Water 
Eaton, co. Wilts, Gyles Tomes, and Richard Samon, the latter of Burming­
ton, combining and confederating themselves together with one James 
Fynes, Esq., and William Sprigge, Gentleman, to disinherit and defeat 
your orator of the said messuage and lands, and having by casual or some 
indirect means gotten into their possession the deed or conveyances made by 
Walter Wells and the pretended deed or conveyance alleged to be made to 
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Thomas Wells by his father and elder brother and all other deeds, evidences, 
etc., concerning the messuage and lands in Burmington, by color of having 
the same they, George Neale, Gyles Tomes, Richard Samon, James Fynes, 
[and] William Sprigge, have lately entered into the said messuage or tenement 
and lands, and have made divers secret leases and conveyances thereof 
unto and amongst themselves and divers other persons to your orator un­
known, some times claiming the same by purchase from Thomas Wells or 
some other pretending interest therein, and some other times claiming the 
same under some pretended grant or conveyance from Robert Wells and 
Robert Wells, grandfather and father of your orator John Wells, whereas 
in truth Thomas Wells did not nor could not make any lawful conveyance 
thereof, neither did your orator's grandfather or father make any conveyance 
whatsoever whereby to debar the estates and interests of your orators in or 
by the aforesaid deed or conveyance made by Walter Wells as aforesaid. 
Howbeit George Neale, Gyles Tomes, Richard Samon, James Fyncs, and 
William Sprigge, under the pretences aforesaid or some other w1due pre­
tences yet not discovered by your orator, do often times make entries and 
disturb your orators' peaceable possession of the premises, endeavoring to 
deprive your orators of the rents and profits of the premises, and have 
commenced several suits at law against your orator for recovery of the same 
and of the possession of the messuage and lands from your orators, to the 
disinherison of your orator John Wells and to the manifest wrong and preju­
dice of both your orators and contrary to all right, equity, and good con­
science. In consideration whereof, fornsmuch as your orators have no means 
of relief by the common law, may it please Your Honors to grant unto your 
orators His Majesty'fl writ of subpcena, to be directed unto George Neale, 
Gyles Tomes, Richard Samon, James Fynes, and William Sprigge, com­
manding them to appear before Your Honors in His Majesty's High Court 
of Chancery, etc. 

The joint and several answers of GEORGE NEALE, On.ES To~ras, and 
RICHARD SAMON, three of the defendants to the bill of complaint of John 
Wells and Robert Wells, his son.* The defendants deny that Walter Wells 
was great-grandfather to the complainants or either of them, neither do they 
know or believe that Walter Wells was in his lifetime seised of the messuages 
and lands mentioned in the complaint nor that he made any such deed of 
feoffment or other conveyance of the premises or any part thereof to such 
use as is alleged in the complaint, nor do they believe that Walter '\\ells was 
ever seised of the premises or any part thereof, and so consequently had no 
power to make any such deed as is pretended by the complaint, nor do they 
believe that Robert Wells, the grandfather to the complainnnt John, entered 
and became seised of the premises by virtue of any such pretended deed or 
entail. The defendants say that, Robert Wells, the grandfather, being 
heretofore lawfully seised in his demesne as of fee of and in the messuage 
and lands in the complaint mentioned, of the yearly value of £30 or there­
abouts, he, Robert Wells, the grandfather, and Alice, his then wife, and 
Robert \Velis, his eldest son, by one deed indented dated 5 July, 13 James 
[1615], in consideration of a marriage then shortly after to be solemnized 
between Thomas Wells, his second son and Alice Tomes, one of the daugh­
ters of one John Tomes, and in consideration of a jointure to be made for 
the said Alice, and in consideration of the sum of £300, being the marriage 
portion of the said Alice well and truly paid, did covenant with Thomas 
Kecke and Joseph Phelps that he, Robert the father , Alice, his wife, Robert 
the son and Johan, his wife, and the said Thomas Wells would, at the costs 

*Precedinp; thiH title are the words, in Lntin, "All thre9 sworn tho 9th (?] dny of Juno 1648," 
nnd below this stntement aro tho words, ul•o in Lntin, "Al! three sworn the 15th dny of Novemhor 
1!148." Ono or more •isnnturcs, which :iro illegiblo, follow the latter dnte. 
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of Thomas Wells, his heirs and assigns, before the Feast of All Saints then 
next ensuing [l November 1615], acknowledge and levy one fine concerning 
the said premises in Burmington to the use of Thomas Wells for the term 
of his life, and after his decease to the use of Alice, his intended wife, for t he 
term of her life, for her jointure, and after their deceases to the use of the 
heirs of Thomas Wells on the body of Alice, his then intended wife, lawfully 
to be begotten, with remainder to the use of Robert Wells, son of Robert 
the grandfather, his heirs and assigns, for ever, And the defendants say 
that accordingly, in Michaelmas Term then following (2-25 November 1615], 
a fine was levied of the said premises ; but the defendants know of no such 
deed made in the s ixth year of his late Majesty's reign as in the complaint 
is pretended; and they believe that Thomas Wells, by virtue of the afore­
said deed and fine thereupon had, entered into the premises and became 
thereof sei&ed; and they say that Thomas Wells, havin~ divers children by 
him on the body of the said Alice· begotten, did by one mdenture, dated on 
or about 20 .A,ugust, in the eleventh year of His now Majesty's reign [20 
August 1635), grant unto James Fines, Esq., and William Spri[gge), Gentle­
man, and their heirs, to the use of them and their heirs for ever, all the 
premises in the said bill mentioned, with their appurtenances, and in Hilary 
T erm, in the twelfth year of His now Majesty's reign [11-31 J anuary1636/7], 
a fine was acknowledged and levied by Thomas Wells and Alice, his wife, 
to James F ines and William Sprig and their heirs, of the said premises; and 
the defendants say that by one indenture quintipartite, dated about 10 May 
in the fourteenth year of His now Majesty's reign [10 May 1638), made 
between Thomas Wells, James Fines, and William Sprig of the first part, 
this defendant, George Neale, of the second part, one Nicholas Hunt of the 
third part, this defendant, Tomes, of the fourth part, and Thomas Neale 
and Richard Warkeman of the fifth part, [and] reciting the aforesaid con­
veyance made by Thomas Wells to James Fiens and William Sprig and the 
fine thereupon levied, and also writing that ... [Here is inserted a recital 
of the grant from FieDB and Sprig to Neale, Hunt, and Tomes, with the 
consideration therefor, and the further covenants made b.Y Fiens and Sprig, 
as set forth in the Indenture Quintipartite, supra, p. 281], and in Michaelmas 
T erm, in the fourteenth year of His now Majesty's reign [2-25 November 
1638], a recovery was had accordingly, by virtue of which several convey­
ances the -defendants, Neale and Tomes, conceive that they have a good 
estate of inheritance of and in the said premises, in such several proportions 
as is in the last recited indenture expressed. And the defendants believe 
[that] Robert Wells the grandfather and Robert Wells the father

1 
his son, 

died on or about the time in the complaint set forth; and they know not 
whether Thomas Wells did desire to travel beyond sea for the reason in the 
complaint set forth, but [they] say that Thomas Wells, having made the 
aforesaid conveyance and settlement upon James Fiens and William Sprig, 
not long after departed out of this kingdom into New England. And the 
defendants, Neale and Tomes, do deny that the said assurance to them 
made was for security of money, as is pretended, but was an absolute sale; 
and [they] conceive [that] Thomas Wells had no reason to make any settle­
ment of the premises for the payment of such pretended legacies, with 
remainder to the complainant and his heirs, for Thomas Wells had then 
and, as the defendants have lately heard, yet hath divers children and 
grandchildren of his own living; nor do the defendants know of any deed • 
or will that Thomas Wells d id make other than what the defendants have 
hereinbcfore set forth. And the defendants say that they have lately heard 
and do verily believe that Thomas Wells [is] yet living and hath divers 
children and grandchildren yet living in New England; and they have 
lately seen an affidavit to such purpose, and Thomas Wells hath lately sent 
some letters to divers of his friends here in England; and so the complain-
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ants or either of them have no color of title at all to the said premises. And 
the defendants do deny that the complainants did ever make legal entry into 
the premises, but the complainants have lately, without any color of title, 
made a forcible entry into the premises, for which the complainant John, 
with others, standeth indicted. And the defendants deny combination and 
confederacy with any persons whatsoever, and they deny [that] they have 
in their custody a.ny [of] the conveyances pretended to be made by Walter 
Wells. But the defendants Neale and Tomes have in their custody the 
aforesaid deed of settlement, made by Robert Wells the grandfather and 
Robert Wells the son to Thomas Wells, and a copy of the fine thereupon 
levied, and the said deed indented quintipartite, and the recovery thereupon 
had, and no others. And the defendants Neale and Tomes do claim to 
have an estate of inheritance in the premises in such proportions as is afore­
said, and the defendant Richard Salmon saith [that) he hath no estate at 
all in any part of the premises other than as he is tenant at will to the 
-0ther defendant George Neale to some part thereof. And the defendants 
humbly pray to be hence dismissed with their reasonable costs and charges 
in this behalf. (Chancery Proceedings, Charles I, C. 3, 467 / 35.) 

[This answer of the defendants reveals the name of Gov. Thomas Welles's 
father, Robert, with the approximate year of his death, 1619, the Christian 
name of Governor Welles's mother, Alice, and the approximate date, 1615, of 
Governor Welles's marriage with Alice, daughter of John Tomes, as well as the 
fact that Governor Welles emigrated to New England "not long after" he had 
conveyed the Burmington property to Fiennes and Sprigg, that is, soon after 
20 Aug. 1635. The complaint and the answer agree in stating that the Governor's 
father

6
Robert, died about 1619 and that t he Governor's older brother, Robert, 

died a out 1628.) 

FROM CHANCERY D EPOSITIONS* 

[Wells v. Neale et al., 1648-1651) 
Commission, 2 March 1649 [1649/50), from the Keepers of the Liberty 

of England to William Hicks, Richard Randall, William Barnes, and Rich­
ard Croft, Gentlemen, to administer interrogations and take depositions 
in [the case of] John Wells et al. contra George Neale et al. 

Interrogatories to be ministered unto witnesses on behalf of George Neale, 
Giles Tomes, [and] Richard Samon the elder, defendants at the suit of John 
Wells, Gent., and Robert Wells, son of the said John Wells, complainants, 
in a cause depending in the High Court of Chancery between the said parties. 

1. Do you know the parties, plaintiffs and defendants, or how many 
and which of them do you know and how long time have you known them? 

2. Do you know or have you credibly heard whether or no one Walter 
Wells named in the complaint and therein alleged to be great-grandfather 
of the plaintiff John Wells was in truth great-grandfather of the plaintiff, 
or whether or no Walter Wells was [related] by some other degrees of con­
sanguinity unto the plaintiff, and whether or no Walter Wells had a son, 
viz., his eldest son, called Robert Wells, whom the plaintiff John Wells 
allegeth to be his grandfather, [and] was not Walter Wells uncle to the 
before-named Robert Wells, and was not Robert Wells grandfather of the 
plaintiff John Wells? Have you seen the las t will and testament of Walter 

- Wells and the probate thereof? If yea, then is the writing now shewed unto 
you the last will and testament of Walter Wells, and did not Walter Wells 
in his last will and testament make one Robert Wells his executor, and did 
he not therein call Robert Wells his executor "his kinsman Robert Wells 

*Preserved in the Public Record Office, London, tho following dcpositioDS being found in Cba.ucery 
Depositions borore 1714, JV!itford, buudlo 722, no. 31. 
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sonne of ltis Brother Thomas Wells," and was this Robert Wells, executor 
of Walter Wells, grandfather or father of the plaintiff, John Wells, or of 
what other degree of consanguinity was he unto the plaintiff, J ohn Wells? 

3. Do you know or have you credibly heard that Walter Wells was in 
his lifetime seised of a messuage and two yardlands and a half arable meadow 
and pasture and two closes, with appurtenances, in Burmington, co. Warwick, 
in fee simple? Did Walter Wells by feoffment or other assurance convey 
the same to the use of himself for his life, and after[wards] to the use of 
Robert Wells, with this eA'Press name, viz., "Robert WeIJs his eldest sonne 
for his lief," and after their several deceases then to the use of the fast son 
or heir male of Robert WeIJs lawfully begotten and to the heirs males of 
such first son or heir male lawfully begotten and, for want of such heirs 
males, then to the use of the second, third, and fourth sons of Robert Wells, 
successively, and to the heirs males of every such sons, successively, and, 
for default of such issue, then to the use of the right heirs of Walter Wells 
for ever, as the plaintiffs by their complaint allege'? Have you at any time 
seen any such deed of entail of the messuage and lands in Burmington pre­
tended to be made by Walter Wells?. If yea, then what date doth such deed 
bear, and where and in whose hands doth such pretended deed of entail 
remain, and do you know, remember, or have [you] credibly heard that 
Walter Wells had any such son named Robert Wells who was grandfather of 
the plaint iff John Wells? 

4. Do you know or remember how long since Thomas Wells, uncle to 
the plaint iff John Wells, departed out of England unto the parts beyond 
the sea,'3, and to what part or parts beyond the seas did he travel, whether 
unto a. place called New England or to what other parts beyond the seas, 
how many children had he at the time of his depart ure out of England, that 
is, how many sons and how many daughters, what were their names, how 
many of his chilciren did he take with him at the time of his departure, what 
were the names of the children which he took with him, and of what ages 
were they at the time Qf departure? 

5. What notice or intelligence by messages, letters, or by any other ways 
or means whatsoever have you at any time or t imes heretofore since the 
departure of Thomas Wells out of England into New England received from 
Thomas Wells or from any other person or persons residing in New England 
or t ravelling between New England and E ngland concerning the life, health, 
or well-being of Thomas Wells and his child and children, grandchild and 
grandchildren, and of which of them by name, or of how many of them, and 
when and at what t ime or times, and how long time is it since you last or 
lately heard of them or any of them, and of how many of their life or lives 
and of their name or names? 

6. What or how many entries or entry hath the plaint iff John Wells and 
his son Robert Wells, or either of them and which of them, made into the 
possession of house and land in Burmington of the defendants, or of any 
of them and of which of them? Was such ent ries or entry made in a peaceable 
manner, lawfully, and by due course of law, or rather riotously, forcibly, 
and with strong hand, and with a mult itude of people and contrary to the 
laws of England? 

7. What other matter or things material .or advantageous for the de­
fendants' part do you know, [have you] credibly heard, or do [you] remember? 

[Depositions of witnesses on behalf of the defendants.] 
Nicholas Hunt of Burmington, co. Warwick, yeoman, aged 85 years or 

thereabouts, deposeth as followeth: 
1. He knoweth all the parties, complainants and defendants, and hath 

known them for a long time. 
2. He did know Walter Weils, and the said Walter was uncle unto Robert 
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Wells grandfather unto the complainant John Wells, and not father unto 
him, and he hath heard [that) Walter Wells had a son named William Wells 
and that the said William died when he was of the age of about 15 or 16 years. 
He hath seen the last will and testament of Walter Wells, wherein he made 
the said Robert Wells, son of Thomas Wells his brother, by the name of his 
kinsman, executor of the will, and the writing· now shewed. unto him is, as 
he conceiveth, the last will and testrunent of Walter Wells. 

3. He doth not know nor never heard that Walter Wells did ever ni.ake 
any deed of entail of the lands in Burmington, but doth believe that be had 
an estate of inheritance in fee simple or fee tail in the same, but how he did 
dispose of the same this deponent knoweth not. 

4. He believeth that it is about 15 years since Thomas Wells uncle to 
the complainant John Wells, went out of this ldngdom of England unto the 
parts beyond the seas, unto a place, as he bath heard, called New England, 
and that he had at the time of his departure 3 sons and 3 daughters, all 
which he took along with him, and that his 3 sons were called by the names 
of John, the eldest son, Thomas, the second, and Samuell, the third son, and 
that the daughters were called by the names of Mary, Anne, and the other 
he doth not remember her name; and he hath beard that Thomas Wells 
had one son more, born since he wont over thither, and he believeth his 
eldest child was of the age of about 13 years when they went away. 

5. He hath had several letters from Thomas Wells from beyond the seas, 
and the last he received was dated 4 February 1646 (1646/ 7]; and one John 
Robins, who married the complainant John Wells his sister, brought the 
said letter and told this deponent that, when he came thence, the said 
T[homas Wells) and all his children were alive and well. 

[---le Salmon of Burmington, co. Warwick, aged 50 years or there­
abouts, deposeth as followeth: 

6. The complainant John Wells was in sight and presence when certain 
men to the number of 4 persons, viz., Willm. Clements, Willm. Court, John 
Jenkins and Edward Page, broke into the house and possession where 
Richard Salmon did dwell in violent manner, and threw out of possession of 
the house five persons that were there in peaceable and quiet possession, and 
after[wards] put in one Mrs. Goodricke, who kept the possession until the 
underaheriff or some officers or deputies for him came and put Richard 
Salmon in possession again; and, while the said Mrs. Goodricke was in 
possession, [they carried off] the hay that stood on a rick in the backside 
and a good part of the corn out of the fields, and pulled down the floors 
pales, doors, and doorcheeks of the house, glass out of the windows, and 
divers other things, all which was carried unto the house of the complainant 
John Wells, but by whom this deponent knoweth not. 

Richard Hunt of Burmington, co. Warwick, yeoman, [aged ---]eight 
years or thereabouts, saith: 

2. He hath heard that Walter Wells was not father but uncle to Robert 
Wells, grandfather to the complainant John Wells. 

4. Thomas Wells went beyond sea to New England, as he believeth, and 
took with him six children, 3 sons, viz., John, Thomas, and Samuell, and 3 
daughters, viz., Mary, Anne, and Sara; and this deponent bclieveth that the 
eldest was then of the age of"17 years or thereabouts and the youngest was 
then of the age of 2 years or thereabouts. 

Mary Samon, wife of the defendant Richard Samon, of Burmington, co. 
Warwick, saith : 

6. The complainant John Wells or his son made 3 entries into the house 
in Burmington: the first was by the plaintiff's son, who broke through the 
thatch into the house and then opened the door of the house and let in others, 
at which time there were cheeses taken forth of the house and divers other 
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things to a good value; t he second time certain men, as this deponent sup­
poseth by the directions of the complainant John Wells, did break into the 
end of the dwelling house in question and violently did thrust out of the house 
this deponent and her husband; and the third time certain men, being 4 
in number, did forcibly again break into the house by the procurement of 
the complainant John Wells, as the said men told this deponent, at which 
time this deponent and 4 others were in the house, and the 4 men did violently 
carry away this deponent and one Elizabeth Wark.man " to Warr:" [? War­
wick] at the suit, as they said, of the complainant John Wells, and also put 
the rest of the women forth of doors and threw out of the house divers goods 
of the said Richard Samon's, some small things whereof were lost, and the 
residue this deponent and her husband bad again. 

Richard Samon, Jr., of Burmington, co. WanvicJi:, husbandman, aged 48 
years or thereabouts, saith: 

6. There were three entries made into the house in question: the first was 
about September, was 2 years, at which time this deponent saw the com­
plainant John Wells pull off the thatch of the house and did put into the 
house a son of the said complainant John Wells, which son did open the door 
of the house and let in the complainant John Wells and Robert Wells his 
son and one Thomas Woodford, and then [they] barred themselves into the 
house; the second entry was made about the month of July, A.D. 1648, 
as this deponent believeth, but this deponent was not present when the 
second entry was made, neither was he present at the third entry, but after 
the second and third entry he saw the complainant John Wells and others 
in the house, who kept possession therein with force, and this deponent 
coming to fetch his plow, which was in the backside of the house, the com­
plainant John Wells did threaten this deponent that, if he came upon the 
ground, he would shoot him, this deponent, or run him through with his 
trusty [?], which he had about him. 

Elizabeth Warlcman of Burmington, co. Warwick, spinster, aged 23 years 
or thereabouts, saith: 

6. In the month of September last past, was 2 years, this deponent did 
see John Wells, the complainant, break in to t he dwelling house of Richard 
Samon the elder by pulling down th.e thatch thereof, and [he) put into the 
house his son Richard Wells, who opened the doors and did let in his brother 
Robert and Thomas Woodford; and in July last, she being with four others 
in the said dwelling house, there came Willm. Clemance, Willm. Courte, 
Richard Page, and John Jenkins, sent, as she believeth, by the plaintiff 
John Wells, and did violently break down the doors, and drew out by force 
this deponent and the other four persons then being in the house, and kept 
the possession by strong band. 

[Signed] William Hyckes, Richard Randall, Richard Croft, William Barnes. 

Interrogatories to be administered to witnesses on behalf of John Wells 
and Robert Wells, his son, complainants against George Neale, Giles Toms, 
and Richard Samon, defendants. 

1. Do you know the part ies, plaint iffs and defendants? Did you know 
Robert Wells the late grandfather and Robert Wells the late father of the 
complainant John Wells, and Walter Wells late uncle of Robert Wells the 
grandfather, deceased, and how long is it since the several deceases of Walter 
Wells, Robert Wells the grandfather, and Robert Wells the father? 

2. Do you know that Walter Wells was in his lifetime scised in fee or of 
some estate of inheritance of one messuage and certain lands and tenements 
in Tidmington, co. Worcester, and of a messuage and two yardlands at 
Sturton, co. Warwick, and of the messuage and two yardlands and a half 
at Birmington, co. W.ar,vick? Did Walter Wells make any grant of the said 
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messuages and lands or any part thereof to Robert Wells, grandfather of 
the complainant John We!Js, or Richard Wells, another kinsman of the said 
Walter, and upon what consideration were the said lands so granted, as 
you know, believe, or have heard? 

3. Have you read or seen any ancient deed or conveyance made by 
Walter Wells for settling his messuage and lands at Birmington upon Robert 
Wells, grandfather of the complainant John Wells, for life, and afterwards 
to Robert Wells, father of the complainant John Wells, and the heirs males 
of his body in tail, or to Robert Wells the grandfather and to the heirs males · 
of his body in tail, and when, where, and in whose custody did you so read 
or see the said deed, and where is the same now remaining? 

4. Do you know of any deed or conveyance heretofore remaining in the 
hands of one Nicholas Hunt, whereby the messuage and lands at Birmington 
were entailed or otherwise settled upon the complainant John Wells or 
Robert Wells, his late father and grandfather, and where and in whose 
hands or possession is the same deed now remaining, and by what means or 
procurement was the same deed gotten out of the hands of Nicholas Hunt? 

5. Did Walter Wells die without any issue lawfully begotten, and did 
Walter Wells in his lifetime, for the love and affection which he bore to his 
brother's children, convey his messuage and lands at Stourton to one Richard 
Wells, his kinsman, and the heirs of his body, and did the said Walter like­
wise grant his messuage and lauds at Birmington to Robert Wells, late 
grandfather of the complainant John Wells, and to the heirs males of his 
body in tail, without any consideration 1it all but only the love and affection 
he bare towards his kinsman and to preserve the said lands in his name and 
blood? Declare what you know or have heard touching this interrogatory. 

6. Do you know of any suit formerly depending in this Honorable Court. 
of Chancery between the complainant John Wells and James Fienns, Esq., 
and other defendants? Did the complainant John Wells oftentimes, or at 
any time at or before the defendants' purchase of the lands in question, 
advise the now defendants or any of them not to purchase the lands in ques­
tion, telling them [that] tbey could have no good assurance thereof from 
them that intended to sell the same, or that the same did belong to him, the 
complainant? 

7. Did the complainant John Wells serve the now defendants or either of 
them with an order of the High Court of Chancery for paying in of the pur­
chase money into the said Court before they had made payment thereof, 
and is the order now produced the same order wherewith the defendants 
were so served, and had the defenrurnt Neale a copy of the order delivered or 
left in his custody at the time of such delivery or service? · 

8. Have you formerly had some speech with Richard Salmon, Sr., or the 
other defendants, did you question with him or them or either of them 
wherefore they would meddle to buy the land or the title which is now or 
was heretofore in question, [and] what answer did he, they, or either of them 
make unto you? 

9. Have you heard that one Richard Hall and others were formerly about 
to buy part of the land in question, and do you know the reason wherefore 
he did desist to buy the same? Declare the truth herein, and what was the 
reason that Greenaway left renting of the said land. 

Depositions of witnesses taken at the dwelling house of Ralph Mills in 
Shipton upon Stower, co. Worcester, 22 March 1649 [1649/50], by and before 
William Hicks, Richard Randel, William Barnes, and Richard Crofts, Gent., 
by virtue of the commission out of the High Court of Chancery unto them 
directed for the examination 9f witnesses i11 the cause in the said Court 
depending between John Wells and others, complainants, and George Neale 
and others, defendants, as followeth: 
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[Depositions of witnesses on behalf of the complainants.] 
Richard Wells of Stourton, co. Warwick, yeoman, aged threescore and 

ten years or thereabouts, saith: 
1. This deponent knoweth the complainant John Wells, but doth not 

know Robert Wells, son of the complainant, but he knoweth all the defend­
ants, and he did know Robert Wells the grandfather and Robert Wells the 
father of the complainant John Wells, but did not know Walter Wells; and 
this deponent hath heard t hat Walter Wells died about threescore and thir­
teen years since, but how long since Robert Wells the grandfather and 
Robert Wells the father of the complainant John Wells died this deponent 
doth not know. 

2. He hath often heard his father sity that Walter Wells was seised in fee 
of an estate of inheritance of and in t he messuage and certain lands in Tid­
mington and of a messuage and two yardlands in Stourton and of a messuage 
and two yardla.nds and a. half in Birmington; and he bath heard his father 
say that Walter Wells did grant the said lands in Tidmington and Birming­
ton to Robert Wells, grandfather to the complainant .fohn Wells; and he 
hath often heard his father say that Walter Wells did convey a messuage and 
one yardland, parts of the said two yardlands in Stourton, to Richard Wells, 
this deponent's father, and the heirs males of his body lawfully begotten, and 
another messuagc and the other yardland to Thomas Wells, brother to the 
said Richard Wells, and the heirs males of his body lawfully begotten, they 
being kinsmen, viz., nephews, to Walter Wells, but for no consideration but 
only for mere affection that be bore to them, they being his kinsmen, and 
that the said lands might be preserved and continued in his name and blood. 

3. He hath not seen the conveyance of the lands in Burmington, [and] in 
whose possession the said conveyance was this deponent knowetb not. 

5. This deponent believeth that Walter Wells had no issue, or otherwise 
he would not have given his lands to his kinsmen; and he hath heard from 
his father that Walter Wells would have given to Richard Wells, this depo­
nent's father, and to Thomas Wells, brother of the said Richard Wells, his 
lands in Burmington if they would have come to have lived with him; and 
he hath often heard his father say that the lands in Burmington and Tid­
mington were conveyed to Robert Wells, the complainant's grandfather, in 
tail and to the heirs mnles of his body, in the same manner as the lands in 
Stourton were conveyed to this deponent's father and uncle. 

Nicholas Hunt, formerly examined on the defendants' behalf and now 
examined on the plaintiffs' behalf, saith: 

1. He knoweth the parties, plaintiffs and defendants, and did know 
Robert Wells the grandfather and Robert Wells the father of the com­
plainant John Wells, and did know Walter \Vclls, uncle of Robert Wells 
the grandfather; and he believeth that it is about 73 years ago since Walter 
Wells died and that Robert Wells the grandfather died about 17 years ago 
and that Robert Wells father of the complainant John Wells died about 
20 years since. 

2. He knoweth that Walter Wells was seised in fee of some estate of inher­
itance of and in a messuage and two yardlands and a half in Tidmington and 
of and in two yardlands and a half in Burmington and two closes in Ditch­
ford , co. Warwick; but what conveyances were made by Walter Wells to 
Robert Wells, grnndfather to the complainant John Wells, of the said lands 
this deponent knoweth not. 

3. He hath not read or seen any ancient deed or conveyance made by 
Walter Wells for settling the lands in Burmington upon Robert Wells, 
grandfather of the complainant John Wells, nor never bad any such deed 
in his custody, neither doth he !mow where any such deed is remaining. 

4. This deponent had in his custody a deed of entail, dated 5 July 13 James 
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[1615], whereby the messuage and land in Burmington were settled and 
entailed by Robert Wells the grandfather and Robert Wells the father of 
the complainant John Wells to friends in trust, to the use of Thomas Wells, 
second son of Robert Wells the grandfather, upon an intended marriage to 
be solemnized between the said Thomas Wells and one Alice Toms, viz., 
to the use of Thomas Wells for life, and after his decease to Alice, his intended 
wife, for a jointure, and after their deceases. to the use of the heirs of the 
bodies of the said Thomas and Alice, and, for want of such issue, to the use 
of the right heirs of Robert Wells the youn~er for ever, and two other deeds 
more of the lands in question, one from Richard Wells and the other from 
John White, both of Sturton, all which deeds this deponent delivered to the 
defendants, George Neale and Richard Samon or one of them, and they 
promised to deliver them again to this deponent within two or three days 
then after, which they never did; and this deponent believeth that the same 
deeds are still remaining in the custody of George Neale or Richard Samon 
or one of them. 

5. As to the lands in Burmington to be conveyed to Robert Wells, grand­
father to the ·complainant John Wells, and to the heirs males of his body, 
this deponent cannot otherwise depose than as formerly he ha.th deposed. 

6. This deponent hath heard that there was heretofore a difference between 
the complainant John Wells and James Fynes, Esq., and others, as ' he 
believeth, concerning the lands in question. 

Ellen Wells of Storton, co. Warwick, widow, aged 60 years or thereabouts, 
saith: 

1. She knoweth and did know all the parties named in this interrogatory 
except Walter Wells. 

2. She hath heard her father, Thomas Wells, say that Walter Wells was 
owner of the lands in Tidmington, Burmington, and Storton, but what 
conveyance Walter Wells made of them this deponent knoweth not. 

Thomas Blackborne of Tidmington, co. Worcester, husbandman, aged 60 
years or thereabouts, saith: 

1. He knoweth all the parties, plaintiffs and defendants, and did know 
Robert Wells, grandfather to the complainant John Wells, and Robert 
Wells, father of the complainant, but did not know Walter Wells; and 
Robert Wells the grandfather and Robert Wells the father of the complain­
ant died about twenty years since, but [he] doth not know when or how long 
since Walter Wells died. 

2. This deponent hath heard that Walter Wells was seised in fee or of 
some estate of inheritance of and in a messuage and two yardlands and a half 
in T idmington, co. Worcester, and a messuage and two yardlands and a half 
in Burmington, co. Warwick, and two closes in Ditchford, co. Warwick; 
and [he] hath divers times heard that Walter Wells did grant the premises in 
Tidmington, Burmington, and Ditchford to Robert Wells, deceased, grand­
father to the complainant John Wells, as this deponent hath heard, in con­
sideration of natural love and affection, and to continue the lands in his name 
and blood. 

3. This deponent never heard or did see any ancient deed or conveyance 
made from Walter Wells of any lands to Robert Wells, grandfather to the 
complainant John Wells, neither doth this deponent know where the said 

· deed or conveyance is remaining, if any such [there] were. 
4. There was a deed or conveyance of the messuage and lands in Bur­

mington, whereby the said lands were conveyed to friends in trust, to the use 
of Thomas Wells, second son to Robert Wells grandfather to the com­
plainant John Wells, for life, and after his decease to his wife for her jointure, 
if she survived the said Thomas, and after their deceases to their heirs, and, 
for want of such issue, then to remain to the right heirs of Robert Wells 
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the younger for ever, to which deed this deponent was a witness, and did 
see the same sealed and delivered, and hath since heard the same deed read 
in the house of Nicholas Hunt; and the same deed was then in the custody 
of the said Nicholas Hunt, but where the same is now remaining this deponent 
knoweth not. 

5. This deponent bath heard that Walter Wells died without issue of his 
body lawfully begotten. 

Richard Hunt of Burmington, formerly on behalf of the defendants and 
now examined on the plaintiffs' behalf, saith: . 

4. This deponent hath seen and read a deed or conveyance heretofore 
remaining in the bands of Nichollas Hunt, this deponent's father, whereby 
the messuages and lands in Burmingtou were entailed or otherwise settled 
to friends in trust, to the use of Thomas Wells, second son to Robert Wells 
grandfather to the complainant John Wells, for life, and some jointure to his 
intended wife, if she survived him, and to the heirs of their two bodies, and, 
for want of such issue, then to the right heirs of Robert Wells, father to the 
complainant John Wells, and his heirs for ever, as this deponent verily 
believeth, which said deed hath been remaining for the most part in the 
custody of this deponent's father, Nicholas Hunt, ever since Thomas Wells 
travelled beyond the sea until about a year and a half since; but Nicholas 
Hunt delivered the deed to the defendants, George Neale and Richard 
Samon, who promised to redeliver the same to him again within a short 
time; but the deed, as this deponent believeth, is still in their or one of their 
custody. 

9. This deponent believeth that one Richard Hall had contracted with 
one Mr. Sprigge for half a yardland, part of the lands in Birmington in 
question; but what the reason was that he did not proceed this deponent 
knoweth not. One Greenway, who formerly rented the said lands, left the 
same because there was like to be strife and contention about the t it le of 
the said lands. 

Erasmus Adkins of Sibbord, co. Oxford, yeoman, aged 50 years or there­
abouts, saith: 

6. About 12 or 14 years since this deponent went with the complainant 
John Wells to the house of Mr. Fines in North Newington, co. Oxford, and 
was present when the complainant told Mr. Fines that he heard Lord Saye 
and he would sell the land in Burmington, which would be a wrong to him, 
and Mr. Fines told the complainant that one Mr. Srigge [sic] did speak to 
him to use his name in some thing, it might be it was in this thing. 

Robert Hemminges of Burmington, co. Warwick, yeoman, aged three­
score years or thereabouts, saith: 

9. Richard Hall hath divers times told this deponent that he had an 
intent to have bought half a yardland, parcel of the land in question, but 
that the complainant John Wells persuaded him to the contrary, for, as 
he affirmed, it belonged to him; and this deponent heard the complainant 
say that he had done the like to the defendants George Neale and Richard 
Samon before they purchased. 

John Thornebury of Tidmington, co. Worcester, yeoman, aged 40 years 
or thereabouts, saith: 

7. About 12 years since the complainant John Wells met this deponent 
in Shipston market and desired him to go along with him, for he had an 
order to serve upon the defendant George Neale. Whereupon this deponent 
went along with the complainant to the said defendant, and produced an 
order, and offered to read it to the defendant Neale; but Neale said he 
cared not for it, but said that, if the owners would sell it, he would buy it. 
But whether he had bought it before or not this deponent knoweth not, 
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neither can this deponent tell whether the order were for payment of the 
money into the Court or not. 

Thomas Woodford of Hooke.Norton, co. Oxford, yeoman, aged threescore 
and nine years or thereabouts, saith : 

8. This deponent, having some business to speak with Richard Samon 
the elder, on 5 September 1647 repaired to the house of Richard Samon the 
younger, where Richard Samon the elder then was, and after conference 
between them he demanded of Richard Sa.mon the elder wherefore he would 
buy the land in question, the title being uncertain and in controversy. 
This deponent told him it were better for him to let it alone and keep his 
money in his purse, and that the complainant John Wells wished this depo­
nent to tell him so much, and more, that he should never enjoy it quietly 
while he lived, for he had a good title to it. Richard Samon the elder made 
answer that he bad the land in possession, which was eleven points in the 
law, and that he did not care what the complainant John Wells could do, 
and t hat he should suddenly have three warrants upon several writs against 
the complainant, which he desired this deponent to execute for him, saying 
he would lay the complainant safe enough; and the defendant Richard 
Samon told this deponent also that, what money soever was spent in clearing 
the title of the lru1d, it would cost him, the defendant Sa.mon, nothing, or 
words to that effect. 

Willm. Rose of Willington, co. Warwick, yeoman, aged 35 years or t here­
abouts, saith: 

4. About two years since this deponent was at the house of one Nicholas 
Hunt of Burmington, co. Warwick, where he saw and read a deed, whereby 
the lands in Burmington, being the lands in question, were conveyed to 
friends in trust from Robert Wells the elder and Robert Wells the younger, 
grandfather and father to the complainant John Wells, to Thomas Wells, 
second son to Robert Wells the elder, during his life, and to Alice Toms, his 
intended wife, during her life, if she survived him, and to the issue of their 
two bodies, and, for want of such issue, then to the right heirs of Robert 
Wells the younger for ever. The deed aforesaid was delivered by Nicholas 
Hunt to the defendants George Neale and Richard Samon, upon condition 
that they should redeliver it to him again within a short time; and this 
deponent verily believeth that the deed is still remaining in the custody of 
George Neale or Richard Samon or one of them. 

9. This deponent heard :Richard Hall say that he refused to buy part of 
the land now in question because the complainant John Wells made claim 
to it. 

[Signed] Willm. Hyckes, Richard Randall, Richard Croft, Willm. Barnes. 
[Endorsed] 4th Nov. 1651. 

[Other records show that Georl?e Neale and Giles Tomes had obtained an in­
junction against John Wells to quiet their possession of the Burmington property, 
and that he violated the injunction and was "committed to the prison of the 
Fleete." (Decrees and Orders in Chancery, 1648, B, no. 192, fols. 166, 191, 
259 281, 568, 675.) 

The foregoing depositions, besides confirming some of the allegations of the 
pleadings, show that the grandfather of Gov. Thomas Welles was Thomas 
Welles, brother of Walter Welles that the complainant John Welles was the 
Governor's nephew, and that the Governor, when he emigrated to New England, 
took with him all his six children, whose names in the depositions are the same 
and in the same order as those given in the Governor's will. The depositions 
give also the ages of the oldest and youngest child; but there is a discrepancy 
between the statement of Nicholas Hunt, who said that he believed that the 
oldest child was about 13 years old when they went away, and the statement 
of his son

1 
Richard Hunt, who said that the oldest child was then 17 years of age 

or thereaoouts. The depositions also identify the wife of John Robbins, the 
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Wethersfield (Conn.) settler\ whose name was Mary, as the sister of the com­
plainant John Welles and tnerefore a niece of Governor Welles, thus clearing 
up the mystery of the "Cossen Robins" to whose children the Governor left 
£10 by his will.] 

FRoM PnoBATE R.EcoRDs 
Administration on the goods of THOMAS WELLES, late of Wychford [co. 

Warwick], deceased, was granted 8 October 1558 to Walter Welles of Tred­
ington, co. Worcester, farmer, brother of the deceased, for the use and benefit 
of Robert and Ann, natural children of the said Thomas Welles, until one 
of them attain the age of twenty-one years. Surety: Humphrey Whyte of 
Whichford, farmer . [No inventory filed .] (Worcester Probate Registry, 
vol. 6, part 1, fo. 53.) 

The Will of WALTER WELLS of Tredyngton, in the Diocese of Worcester, 
yeoman, dated 1 December 1577. To be buried in the church or churchyard 
of Tydmington [Tredyngton struck out], to which church I give 6s. Sd. T o 
every of my godchildren one sheep. To every poor householder in Tyd­
myngton, where I now dwell, 12d. To every poor householder in Burmyng­
ton 12-d. To the poor people in Shypston upon Stower 6s. Sd. amongst them. 
To every one of my cousin Robert Wells's children of Stollerton 3s. 4d. To 
every one of my cousin Walter Wells's children of Stollerton 3s. 4d. To my 
cousin Willm. Bybbert[?] of Glouc[ester] 40s. To every one of cousin 
Humfrey -- [name struck out] children of Long Compton one sheep. To 
John Cotterell of Shypston upon Stower one cow. To Wyllm. Huntt of 
Solford Magna one cow. "Itm my wyll ys that yf the heyrcs males by the 
body of Robert Wells the youngr (of Tydmyngton where I now dwell) do 
not pa.ye Isabell Wells the daughter of the sayd Robert at suche tyme as 
the sayd Isabell shall accomplish ::-..-viij yeares townrds the p'ferment of her 
marrage twenty pounds at one hole payment then I wyll that Thomas 
Brayne & Humfrey Joynor my feofees in trust of my heredymts in Dychford 
in the County Wan· shall stand seased of all the same heredytaments to the 
use of the sayd Isabell untyll my sayd fcofecs shall have levied to the use of 
the sayd Isabell of the p'fitts of the sayd lands twenty pounds. all the rest 
of my goods I geve to my kinsman Robert Wells my brother Thomas Wells 
sonne which Robert I make sole Executor." Overseers : John Cotterell of 
Shypston upon Stower, WylJm. Hunt of Solford Magna, and Humfrey Joynor 
of Long Compton. Witnesses : - -- Brent, Humfre Joyner, Thomas 
Brayne, and Willme Brent. Sums owing: to one Johne Tooley, son of RY.ch­
ard Tooleye, 35s.; to Willm. Wells of Warr[? Warwick), 20s.; to Thomas 
Wells of Stollerton, son of John Wells, 20s. Sums due: [from) Thomas 
Breynehopp, 23s.; John Dodd, 35s. Proved at Worcester .3 July 1578. 

Inventory of the goods of Walter Wells of Tydm[in]gton, deceased, taken 
9 December 1577 by Willm. Atkyns, John Hancocke, Rychard Hodgkyns, 
and Willm. Hunt, £93. 2s. Sd. (Worcester Probate Registry, 1578, no. 45.) 

The Will of ROBERT WELLES of Tydmington [co. Worcester], dated 10 
June 1627. I bequeath my body to the churchyard of Tydmington. To my 
children, Samuel, Hannah, Mary, and Hester, all my ~oocls whatsoever, to 
be equaIJy divided amongst them when they come to eighteen years of age. 
Executors: my brother Thomas Welles and Erasmus Atkins, to dispose of 
my goods to the use of my children and to allow them present maintenance 
out of them immediately after my decease and to deliver their portions 
unto them when they come to eighteen years of age. Whereas my land 
after my decease doth descend upon my son .John, the entail not being cut 
off, my said son hath promised, upon condition that I shall not cut off the 
entail, that he will allow the ho.use and land, with all the profits and com­
modities thereunto belonging, to be disposed of by my executors for the use 
of my other children before-named and for the bettering of their portions 
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until my son John come to the full age of one and twenty years and two 
months, my executors allowing him for his maintenance £10 a year out of 
the land, and he hath further promised to give to my son Samuel, for the 
bettering of his portion, £150, to be paid to him within six years after my 
son John cometh to the age of one and twenty, which I, Robert Welles, do 
accept of from my son John, and in consideration thereof I promise not to 
cut off the entail. If any of my forenamed children, Samuel, Hannah, Mary, 
or Hester, shall misdemean themselves in their carriages or not be ruled by 
my executors, either in their marriages being disposed of [or) in places for 
their choice of education, it shall be in the power of my executors to abate 
what they shall think fit out of the portions of any such of them that will not 
be ruled as aforesaid and to give it to such others of them as they shall think 
fittest. If any of them die under the age of eighteen years, their portions 
[are] to be equally divided amongst the survivors. I desire my brother 
William Tymms to join in the executorship with my foresaid executors. 
[Signed) Robert Welles. Witnesses: Tho: Wells, John Welles. Proved 
before William Whateley, vicar of Banbury [co. Oxford), 7 February 1627 / 8, 
by Thomas Wells, brother of the said deceased and one of the executors 
named in the will, power being reserved to Erasmus Atkins and William 
Tymms. (P. C. 0., Barrington, 13.) 

FROM THE PARISH REGISTERS OF WHIOHFORD, CO. WARWICK, 
154.0-1600* 

Baptisms 
1540 Robt. Welles of Sturton 6 November. 
1557 Robt. Welles of Sturton 15 June. 
1559 Isabell Welles of Sturton 13 August. 
1560 Willm. Welles of Sttirton 10 October. 
1561 Nicholas Welles of Sturton 9 November. 
1561 John Welles of Sturton 8 February [1561/ 2]. 
1561 Nicholas Welles of Sturton 1 March [1561/2]. 
1562 Nicholas Well es of Sturton 3 September. 
1563 E llys Welles of Sturton 29 September. 
1563 Anne Welles of Sturton 7 November. 
1563 Anne Welles of Sturton 14 March [1563/4). 
1564 Margerie Welles of Sturton 30 July. 
1566 Water Welles of Sturton 2 February [156'6/ 7]. 
1567 Elen Welles of Sturton 20 April. 
1568 Nicholas Welles of Sturton 14 October. 
1569 Elizabethe Welles of Sturton 14 October. 
1569 Thomas Welles of Sturton 23 January [1569/70). 
1569 Thomas Welles, son of Water Welles of Sturton, 3 February [1569/70]. 
1571 John Welles of Sturton 26 May. 
1571 Joane Welles, daughter of Rycd. Welles of Sturton, 7 October. 
1572 Edwarde Welles of Sturton 22 March (1572/3). " 
1575 Willm. Welles, son of Water Welles of Sturton, 16 October. 
1578 Rychard Welles, son of Rychard Welle of Sturton, 8 November. 
1582 Anne Welles, daughter of Thomas Welle of Sturton, 13 April. 
1583 Hellen Welles, daughter of Thomas Welles of Sturton, 2 December. 
1587 Lawrance Welles, son of Tho: Welles of Sturton, 10 June. 
1590 Ales Welles, daughter of Thomas Welles of Sturton, 16 December. 
1594 Willm. Welles, son of Thomas Welles of Sturton, 31 January [1594/ 5). 
1597 Marie Welles, daughter of Waterier [or Waterber] [sic] Welles, Junior, 

of Sturton, 17 May. 
•The pnrioh of Whichford included t.he hnmlet o! Stourton, on the River Stour, three nod ono­

hnlf miles southenst !rom Shipston·on-Stour. Tl.Jc pnrish rcgi~tcrs begin in 1540, but nfter 1600 
there nre no onlries in them thnt rc!cr to Robert Welles, the fotber of Gov. Thomas Welles. 
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1598 Water WelJes, son of Water WelJes of Sturton, 3 November. 
1600 Willm. Welles, son of Nicholas WelJes of Sturton, 8 October. 

Marriaues 
1546 Thomas Warkeman and Margerie Welles 14 November. 
1548 Roger Phippes and Joane Weles 24 May. 
1553 Thomas Welles and Elizabeth Bryan 28 October. 
1559 Robt. Warkeman and Jane Welles 1 February (1559/ 60]. 
1584 Willm. Tasker of Hookenorton and Margerie Welles of Sturton 5 

November. 
1592 Christopher Bewington of Honington and Ellen Welles of Sturton 

"maried heare" 16 October. 
1594 Water Welles of Sturton and Anne Fisher of Longc1npton, at Long­

cffipton, 4 February [1594/ 5). 
1595 Charles Welles of Longcffipton and Elizabethe Wall;:er of Ascott 

"maried heare" 5 [?]January [1595/ 6]. 
· 1600 James Egleston of T eysoe and Elizabethe Welle of Ascott 4 August. 

Burials 
1547 John Welles of Sturton 17 February (1547/8]. 
1552 Elizabethe Welles, wife of Thomas Welles of Sturton, 11 January 

[1552/ 3]. 
1556 Thomas Welles of Sturton 2 December. 
1558 Agnes Welles of Sturton 18 August. 
1558 "Thomas Welles of Sturton was buried the xxxth daie of 

Auguste." 
1558 Elizabethe Welles of Sturton 4 October. 
1559 Isabell Welles of Sturton 21 September. 
1560 Robt. Welles of Sturton 29 July. 
1563 Water Welles of Sturton 13 October. 
1563 Anne Welles of Sturton 18 November. 
1569 EIJen Welles of Sturton 27 November. 
1572 Elizabethe Welles of Sturton 27 October. 
1597 Isabell Welles, wife of Robt. Welles of Sturton, 15 January (1597 /8). 
1597 Water Welles, Senior, of Sturton 25 February (1597 /8]. 
1598 Water Welles, Junior, of Sturton 15 April. 

FnoM LAY SunsmrEs Fon co. WARWICK* 

1523 Wbichford. Robert Wellys in goods [valuation] 40s. [Amount 
of tax illegible. He was the only Wells taxed in 
the parish in that year.] (192/ 122.) 

1542 Burmington. Nycoles Huntt in goods [valuation) £8. [tax] 2s. 
8d. (192/ 153.) 

Wat' Wells in goods [valuation) £13. [tax] 7s. 8d. 
(lb.) 

Which.ford. Thomas Wells in goods [valuation] £8. [tax] 2s. 
8d. (lb.) 

William Wells in goods [valuation] £9. [tax] 3s. 
(lb.) 

1592 Burmington. [Roll illegible.] (193/ 237.) 

FROM LAY SunsrnrEs FOR co. WORCESTER* 
1558 Tredington. Walter Wells in goods-- . (200/ 189.) 
1570 Tidmington. Walter Wells in l?oods [valuation] £9. [tax] 9s. 

[the largest tax m the parish]. (lb.) 
•Pr~servcd in tho Public Record OlliN, L'>nclon. 
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From the foregoing records it appears that there was a Welles family 
in the parish of Whichford, co. Warwick, as early as 1523, when 
Robert Wellys was taxed on goods valued at 40s. In 1542 Thomas 
Wells, perhaps a son of the Robert of 1523 and almost certainly the 
grandfather of Gov. Thomas Welles of Connecticut, was taxed in 
Whichford on goods valued at £8; and a William Wells, who was 
taxed there in the same year on goods valued at £9, may have been 
a brother of Thomas. A Walter Wells who was taxed at Burming­
ton, co. Warwick, in 1542 on goods valued at £13 was probably 
identical with the Walter Wells who was taxed on goods at Treding­
ton, co. Worcester, in 1558 and on goods valued at £9 at Tidmington, 
co. Worcester, in 1570. This Walter Wells of Tredington and T id­
mington is known to have been a brother of Thomas Welles, the 
grandfather of the Connecticut Governor. The parish registers of 
\Vhichford, which begin in 1540, contain records of the baptisms, 
marriages, and burials of many of the Welles surname; and, although 
it is possible to assign positively to only a few of these persons their 
p:wper places in the family to which Governor Welles belonged, yet 
these entries down to the end of the sixteenth century have been 
given among the preceding records, in the hope that further search 
may bring to light documents that will determine t he identity of 
some of these individuals. From the English records given above 
and from American records thereafter the following pedigree is 
believed to be established. 

1. --- WELLES, perhaps the Robert Wellys who was taxed at 
Whichford, co. Warwick, in 1523, was the father of at least two of 
the following children (order of births unknown): 

2. i. THOMAS. 
u. WALTER, of Tredington and Tidmington, co. Worcester, yeoman, 

the testator of 1577, d. without surviving issue between 1 Dec. 
1577, the date of his will, nnd 9 Dec. 1577, when his inventory was 
taken. He was taxed at Tredington in 1558 and at Tidrnington 
in 1570, his ta.x at Tidmington of 9s. on goods valued at £9 being 
the largest tax of that year in the parish. He is PI<>bably the 
Walter Wells who was taxed at Burmington, co. Warwick, in 
1542, on goods valued at £13, and he had property a lso at Ditch­
ford, co. Wanvick. On 8 Oct. 1558, being then of Tredington, he 
was appointed administrator of the estate of his brother Thomas 
Welles, deceased. In his own will be left legacies to several of his 
relatives, and made his kinsman Robert Wells, son of his brother 
Thomas Wells, his residuary legatee and sole executor. According 
to the deposition of Nicholas Hunt he had a son William, who d. 
at the age of 15 or 16 years.• 

*Accordinit lo depositions in the Chancery suit of Wells •· Neale cl al., t.nken about 16ii0, 
Walter Welles, t.he testnlor of 1577, hud two other nephews, Richard Wells and Thomns WoUs, 
who were brothers, bul lhe nnme of their Cuther docs not appear. The reir,is lera of Whichford 
show that J o"ne Welle,, dnughtcr of Riclmrd Welles of Stourton, wrui bnplir.cd 7 Oct. 1571, nod 
thnt Richard Welles, son of Richard Welle of Stourton, wns bnptizcd 8 Nov. 1578. This lnst­
mentioned Jl.ichnrd is apparently the deponent in the Chancery suit, who w1111 ngcd nbout 70 or 
thcreaboul.F when he depo.icd nnd who stated Utnt his fat her, Richard >Velis, nnd bis uncle, Thomas 
Wells, were nephews of Wolter ·w ells; tho te•lntor of 1577. Ellen Wells of Stourlon, widow, one 
of tho deponents in the Chancery suit, gnvo her ngo n& nbout 60 or tberenbouU! nnd stated thnt 
Thomas Wells wns her lnther. Perhaps she wns the Hellen Welles, dnughler of Thomas Welles 
of Stourton, who wnA baptized 2 Dec. 1583, nnrl in thnt case she must have married a Welles. 
The parish registers of Whiohford show thnt thoro wns another Walter ' Velles (porbnJ)8 a nephew 
of Walter Welles of Trodington nod Tidmington), who wns of Stourlon in Which!ord nnd had 
several children. 
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iii. WILLIAM (perhaps a brother of Thomas and Walter), who was taxed 
at Whichford in 1542 on goods valued at £9 and may have been 
the father of some of the children whose baptisms are recorded 
on the early pages of the Whlchford registers. 

Probably others. 

2. THOMAS WELLES, of Stourton in Whichford, co. Warwick, was 
buried there 30 Aug. 1558. He probably married first ELIZA­
BETH ---, who was bw-ied at Whichford 11 Jan. 1552 
[1552/3]; and secondly, at Whichford, 28 Oct. 1553, ELIZA.­
BETH BRYAN, who was perhaps the Elizabeth Welles of Stow-­
ton who was buried 4 Oct. 1558. 

He is presumably the Thomas Wells who was taxed at 
Whichford in 1542 on goods valued at £8, the tax being 2s. 8d. 
Administration on his estate was granted, 8 Oct. 1558, to his 
brother Walter Wells of Tredington, co. Worcester, for the 
benefit of his children, Robert and Ann, until one of t hem 
should attain the age of twenty-one years. 

Children by first wife: 
i. ANN, under 21 on 8 Oct. 1558. 

3. ii. RonEnT, under 21 on 8 Oct. 1558 and probably the Robert Welles 
of Stour.ton who was bapt. 6 Nov. 1540. 

3. ROBERT WELLES (Thomas), probably the Robert Welles of 
Stourton in Whichford, co. Warwick, who was baptized 6 Nov. 
1540, and under 21 on 8 Oct. 1558, died about 1619. He mar­
ried ALICE ---, who was living 5 July 1615. 

His uncle, Walter Wells, in his will of 1 Dec. 1577, made 
hin1 his residuary legatee and sole executor. 

1. 

4. ii. 

Children: 
RonBnT, of Tidmington, co. Worcester, the testator of 1627, d. 

between 10 June 1627, when his will was dated, and 7 Feb. 1627 /8, 
when it was proved by his brother Thomas, one of the executors; 
m. JOAN - - [? TrnMs], who was living in 1615 but evidently 
d. before her husband. 

Children, named in their father's will : 
1. John, under 21 in 1627. He was the complainant in the 

Chancery suit of 1648. Ilis eldest son, Robert, was about 
18 years old in 1648; and he bad a younger son, Richard, 
and perhaps other children. 

2. Samttel
1 

under 18 in 1627. 
3. Hanna11, under 18 in 1627. 
4. Mary, under 18 in 1627; d. at Wethersfield, Conn., 30 Aug. 

1659; m. John Robbins, the Wethersfield settler. 
5. , Hester, under 18 in 1627. 

TaoMAS, Governor of Connecticut. 

4. Gov. THOMAS WELLES (Robert, Thomas), born in England, 
died at Wethersfield, Conn., 14 Jan. 1659/ 60. He married 
first, in England, soon after 5 July 1615, ALICE Tm.ms, who 
died in Connecticut probably not later than 1646, daughter 
of John Tomes; and secondly, in Connecticut, about 1646, 
ELIZABETH (DEMING) Foo'rE, who died between 16 Aug. 
1682 and 3 Sept. 1683, sister of John Deming and widow of 
Nathaniel Foote, both of Wethersfield. 

.. 
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On 5 July 1615, shortly before his first marriage, his father 
and older brother settled on him a house and lands in Burm­
ington, co. Warwick, and he proved his brother's will, as one 
of the executors, 7 Feb. 1627 / 8. He owned, probably before 
he left England, one share in the Piscataqua patent of lands 
in what is now Dover, Durham, Stratham, and parts of New­
ington and Greenland, N. H. Among the other owners were . 
Lord Say and Sele, Lord Brook, Sir Richard Saltonstall, Sir 
Arthur Haslerigg, Mr. Bosville, Gov. George Wyllys of Fenny 
Compton, co. Warwick, Rev. Ephraim Huit, who had been 
pastor at Knowle and later at Wroxall, co. Warwick, and 
William Whiting (the last three Connecticut settlers), who 
seem to have acquired this old Hilton patent about 1633. 
In 1639 Governor Welles writes that he and Mr. Whiting had 
the "disposeing" of the affairs committed to them by the 
company in England. 

He emigrated to New England with his six children after 
20 Aug. 1635 and before 5 Apr. 1636. H e was with his wife in 
Boston, Mass., 9 June 1636, and perhaps had a house at 
Cambridge, Mass., 8 Feb. 1635/ 6. He settled at Hartford, 
Conn., his home lot being opposite that of Gov. George 
Wyllys, on what is now Governor Street . The first mention 
of Gov. Thomas Welles in the Connecticut Colony records is 
under date of 28 Mar. 1637, when he was member of a Court 
held at Hartford. After that his name appears on almost 
every page of the Connecticut Colony records until his death 
in 1659/ 60. He acted as a magistrate at the General Court 
held 1 May 1637, and was a magistrate every year thereafter 
until his death. He was elected treasurer of the Colony in 
1639 and served until 1641, and was again elected to this 
office in 1648 and served until 1652. He was secretary from 
1640 until 1648, alternate commissioner of the United Colonies 
in 1648, and commissioner of the United Colonies in 1649 (in 
Boston). He was again appointed commissioner in 1654, but 
did not serve, and he was commissioner again in 1659. Al­
though the Connecticut records do not mention it, the Massa­
chusetts archives prove that he, a magistrate, and Lieut . 
David Wilton, a deputy of the Connecticut General Court, 
were sent in 1653 as a committee, with two agents from the 
New Haven Colony, to treat with the Governor, Council, 
General Court, etc., of the Massachusetts Bay Colony about 
a war with the Dutch at Manhattan and the correct interpre­
tation of the Articles of Confederation. Gov. John Haynes 
died before 9 Jan. 1653/ 4 (not in Ma r. 1654, as is generally 
stated), and the freemen in Feb. 1653/4 chose Thomas Welles 
moderator of the General Court. In 1654 also he was elected 
Deputy Governor, and, in the absence in England of Edward 
Hopkins, the new Governor, he presided at all the meetings of 
the General Court for a year. He was elected Governor in 
1655 and 1658 and Deputy' Governor again in 1656, 1657, and 
1659. It is an interesting fact that, when he was elected 
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Governor in 1658, his oldest son, John, was elected a magis­
trate and bis youngest son, Samuel, a deputy to the General 
Cow-t, so that he presided over a Court in which one son sat 
as a magistrate and another as a deputy. From the beginning 
of his services to the Colony he was on the most important 
committees, such as that in 1639 to complete the Fundamental 
Orders, another in the same year to treat with Mr. Fenwick 
of the Saybrook Colony about a t reaty of combination (the 
United Colonies), and committees for making criminal laws 
(1642), to enlarge the liberties of the Patent (1645), to draw 
up the agreement with Mr. Fenwick (1648), etc. Deeds 
indicate that Governor Welles moved his residence from Hart­
ford to the adjoining town of Wethersfield between 16 May and 
10 October 1646, about the time of his second marriage. The 
Connecticut State prison at Wethersfield is on land that 
belonged to Governor Welles, and the house used as the 
warden's residence was built by his great-great-grandson, 
Solomon Welles, Esq. (1721- 1802). There is no space here to 
mention Governor Welles's other services to the Colony or 
the part he took in Hartford and Wethersfield town affairs. 
Besides his constant attention to the public service; he seems 
to have been interested in improving the Indians, for in 1659 
the commissioners of the United Colonies, for the encourage­
ment of the Indians at Wethersfield who attended Mr. Pierson 
and refrained from powwowing and labor on the Lord's Day, 
ordered that six yards of trading cloth be delivered to Deputy 
Governor Welles,. to be distributed among the principal 
Indians. That he was a man of some education is shown by 
the fact that the inventory of his estate contained an item of 
"Books English and Latine." Six letters of Governor Welles 
(four originals and two copies) have been preserved, and two 
of these have not been published. 

Saddened by the death of bis daughter Mary and the recent 
deaths of his son John, the magistrate, and his niece, Mary 
Robbins, Governor Welles died 14 Jan. 1659/ 60, "very sud­
dainly," as Governor Winthrop wrote, "being very well at 
supper and dead before midnight." His will, dated 7 Nov. 
1659, was presented to the Particular Court 11 Apr. 1660. 
He made Mr. John Talcott and Mr. John Cotton, teacher at 
Wethersfield, the overseers of his will; but, as Mr. Talcott 
had died on 23 Mar. 1659/ 60, the General Court, on 11 Apr. 
1660, appointed William Wadsworth and .John Deming, Sr., 
to assist Mr. Cotton in the administration of the estate. 
Governor Welles's inventory, taken 30 Jan. 1659/60 by John 
Cotton and John Deming, amounted to £1069. 8s. 2d. 

Children by first wife, born in England:* 
5. i. JOHN. 
6. ii. THOMAS. 
7. iii. SAMUEL. 

•Nicholll.ll Hum dcpORCd that he hnd heard thnt there wns nnothcr son, born in New England, 
nnd Nnthnnicl Goodwin gives the nrunca of two other sons, Robert and Joeopb, but no rcnord of 
any of tlieec hM been found. 
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iv. MARY, d. in Connecticut, probably before 7 Nov. 1659bfor her 
father, in his will of that date, bequeathed to "My aughter 
Maryes Children·" m. --. · 

v. ANN, d. before 19 6ct. 1680; m. (1) 14 Apr: 1646 THOMAS THOM­
SON, who d. 20 Apr. 1655; m. (2) ANTHONY HAWKINS, who was 
later one of the patentees of the Conne~ticut Charter. Upon her 
first marriage her father conveyed to her and her husband one­
half of a house and farm in Farmington, Conn., where they settled 
an"d were among t he first members of the church. Thomas 
Thomson was a deputy to the General Court in 1650 and a con­
stable in 1653. 

Children by first husband (surname 'l'homson) : 
1. · Beatrice, bapt. 17 Jan. 1647; m. -- Parker. 
2. J olm, m. 24 Oct. 1670 Mary Steele. 
3. Thomas, m. Elizabeth Smith. 
4. Mary, bapt. 7 June 1653; m. 20 May 1673 Samuel Hawley. 
5. Esther, b. 17 June 1655; m. --. Gridley. 

Children by second husband· (surname Hawkins) : 
6. Sarah, bapt. in June 1657; d. before 5 Dec. 1678. 
7. Elizabeth, b. in 1659; m. 30 Oct. 1678 Paul Brinsmead of 

Stratford, Conn. 
8. Hannah, b. in 1661. 

vi. SARAl!J b. about 1631; d. 12 Dec. 1698, aged 67 (gravestone); m. 
in .tteb. 1653/4 CAPT. JoHN CHESTER of Wethersfield. 

Children (surname Chester): 
1. Mary, b. 23 Dec. 1654; d. 10 July 1689; m. 14 Feb. 1677 

John Wolcott of East Windsor, Conn. 
2. Maj. John, b. 10 June 1656; d. 14 Dec. 1711; m. 25 Nov. 

1686 Hannah Talcott, daughter of Samuel Talcott of 
Wethersfield. 

3. Sarah, b. in Nov. 1657; d. 3 Aug. 1723; m. 5 Dec. 1689 
Simon Wolcott of Windsor, Conn. 

4. Stephen, b. 26 May 1660; d. 9 Feb. 1697 /8; m. 17 Dec. 1691 
Jemima Treat, daughter of Lieut. James Treat of Wethers­
field. 

5. Thomas, b. 23 Mar. 1662; d. 4 Dec. 1712; m. 10 Dec. 1684 
Mary Treatl ?aughter of Richard Treat of Wethersfield. 

6. Samuel, b. 23 !Vlay 1664; d. 12 May 1689. 
7. Pmdence, b. 10 Dec. 1666; d. 25 May 1727; m. 17 Dec. 

1691 James Treat of Wethersfield. 
8. Eunice, b. 7 May 1668; d. 16 June 1698; m. 17 May 1694 

Rev. Timothy Stevens. 

5. J oHN WELLES (Gov. Thomas, Robert, Thomas) , born in England, 
died at Stratford, Conn., between 7 Aug. and 18 Aug. 1659. 
He married ELIZABETH BOURNE, wh·o came to New England 
with Herny Tomlinson and Ellen, later wife of Arthur Bost­
wick. She survived him and married secondly, 19 Mar. 
"1662 : or 63," John Wilcockson. 

John Welles was made a freeman at the Connecticut Gen­
eral Court, 10 Apr. 1645. His father gave him one-half of a 
house and lands in Farmington, Conn., but he had removed 
to Stratford before 2 Apr. 1652, when he sold lands there to 
John Thompson. He was a deputy in the General Courts of 
May and October 1656 and May and October 1657, and in the 
latter year was among those nominated "for choice to be 
magistrates" at the next General Court election. In May 
1658, when his father was elected Governor, he was elected 
magistrate, and was elected again in May 1659. He was the 
officer in Stratford who proved wills, took invent ories, dis-
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tributed estates of intestate persons, and appointed adminis­
trators. We get a glimpse of his conduct as magistrate in 
Strntford from the "New Haven Colony Records," vol. 2, 
p. 490. John Davenport, Jr., wrote to Gov. John Winthrop, 
18/ 19 Aug. 1659: "Sr we have lately heard y 1 Mr Wells, 
ye Majestreate at Stratford, is dead, of this disease, he com­
playned of a great bmning in his stomach &c:" (Winthrop 
MSS., vol. 12, p. 97, in the possession of the Massachusetts 
Historical Society.) 

The will of John Welles was dated 7 Aug. 1659 and was 
proved 19 Oct. 1659. In it he bequeathed £40 to his wife, 
"to carry with her if shee please to goc to England." The will 
also contained these provisions: 

"I freely giue to my dear and louing father my sonn Robert to be 
educated and brought up as he sees good. . . . I desire my father 
may haue either th.is will or a True Copy of it sent him in Conuenient 
time after my decease And yf be in his wisdome pleese to alter any 
thinge in it I leue it wholly with him Concerning any thinge that he 
may seem good to alter." 

The estate was inventoried at £461. 3s. 6d. Mr. Gold of 
Stratford wrote on 11 Aug. 1729 to Rev. Thomas Prince : 
" In this town have deceased gentlemen of note, Mr. Welles 
and Mr. Samuel Sherman, Councillors."* 

Children: 
1. JouN, b. about 1648; d. 24 Mar. 1713; m. MARY --- [? HoL-

LISTER]. 
ii. DEA. TnoMAS, b. about 1651; d. 7 Jan. 1720; m. ELJZADETH ---. 
iii. CAPT. RoDERT, b. about 1651; d. 22 June 1714, in his 66th year 

(according to his gravestone) i m. (1) n.t Wethersfield, 9 June 
1675, ELlZADETR GOODRICH, oaughter of E nsign Willi11m Good­
rich; m. (2) in Boston, Mass., 13 Oct. 1698, MARY STODDARD. 
He removed to Wethersfield before his first marriage. He was 
the first of nn unbroken succession of six genera.tions, father and 
son named Robert Welles, of Wethersfield and Newing~oEi Conn. 
li'rom him descended Gen. Roger Welles (1753-1795) of wethers­
field and NewingtontTRo~er Welles, Esq. (1829-1904)1 the aut hor 
of the "Annals of l'lewmgton," and the present V1ee Admiral 
Roger Welles, United States Navy. 

iv. TE~fPERANCE, b. about 1654; d. after 1728; m. o.t Stratford, 29 
Nov. 1681, JONATHAN PITMAN. 

v. SEnGT. SA..\IUEL, of Stratfield, Conn., b. about 1656; d. in 1729; 
m. (I ) --; m. (2) ABIGAIL --. 

vi. SAnAH, b. about 1658; d. 23 Mar. 1730; m. A~wnosE THOMPSON of 
Stratford, b. 1 Jan. 1652; d. 7 Sept. 1742. 

6. THOMAS WELLES (Gov. Thomas, Robert, Thomas), born in Eng­
land, died at Hartford, Conn., in 1668. He married, 23 June 
1654, flANNAH (---) PANTRY, widow of John Pantry of 
Hartford. She died 6 Aug. 1683. 

•Considernblo confusion hna existed bccnuse there wns at Strnt forcl , contemporaneously with 
Joh n Welles. the mugistrntc. a nother John Wells . the son of H ugh of Wethcr .. fiold, und becnuee 
rach of these hnd n dnui;htcr Snrnh. J ohn. tho eon of Hugh, murrictl Surnh Curlis, claught.cr of 
William Curtis of Strntford, nod nppcnra to hnvr left thcro about two ycnrs niter the mai;iatrnte 
died . Judd, in hi• '"!Iistory oi H adley." says that John Wells of Elatficld probably came from 
Stratford. Snrnh. dnu1thler of the latter, born 28 Sept. l659, rnnrriccl l Feb. 1677 /8 Benjamin 
Beach of Stratford, while Sarah, cfaught.er of J ol:n Welle:!, tho mngistrnlo, married Ambrose 
Thompt1on. 



28 The English Ancestry of Gov. Thomas Welles 

He was townsman at Hartford, 1655, quartermaster of the 
troop, 1658, and lister, 1660. He was named as one of the 
patentees in the charter of Charles II to Connecticut, 23 Apr. 
1662, and was deputy to the General Court, 1662. The com­
missioners on the Dutch boundary, from New Netherlands, 
visited Hartford 22 Oct. 1663, and recorded that they "dined 
with one Mr. W els, whose father had been Governor at Hart­
ford." He was nominated for assistant in 1665 and 1667, and 
was elected assistant 14 May 1668. He was killed "wth a 
fall from a cherrie tree," as we learn from Bradstreet's Journal 
(REGISTER, vol. 9, p. 44). An entry in the Hartford sexton's 
record reads: "The grave of Thomas Welles 7 feet." The 
inventory of his estate amounted to £1297. lls. 

Children: 
1. R EnECCAB, b. in May 1655; d. 25 Feb. 1717; m. 18 Aug. 1680 

CAPT. JAMES JuosoN of Stratford. 
u. TuoMAS, b. in Oct. 1657; d. before 8 Nov. 1695; m. --. He 

left children. 
iii. SARAH, b. in Apr. 1659; m. at Hartford, 7 Nov. 1678, JoaN BIDWELL, 

JR. 
iv. loBABOD, b. in Nov. 1660; m. at Hartford, 4 Sept. 1684, SARAJI 

WAY. He was appointed commissary of the Expedition of 1693 
and sheriff of the Colony in 1701. 

v. SAMUEL, b. in Oct. 1662; m. --. He left children. 
vi. JONA'l'IUN, b. in Sept. 1664; d. unm. before 31 Oct. 1687. There 

was litigation over his estate, which amounted to £440. 18s. 9d., 
between his oldest brother and his other brothers and sisters. 

v11. JosEPH, b. in Apr. 1667; d. before 13 June 1698, when the inventory 
of his estate was ta~en; m. ELIZABETH--. 

7. CAPT. SAMUEL WELLES (Gov. Thomas, Robert, Thomas), born in 
England, died in Connecticut 15 July 1675 (Hartford Probate 
Records). He married fast, before 1660, ELIZABETH HoL­
LISTER, daughter of John Hollister of Wethersfield, Conn.; 
and secondly HANNAH LAllrnERTON, who survived him and 
married secondly Lieut. Col. John Allyn, secretary of the 
Colony. . 

He settled in that part of Wethersfield which became 
Glastonbury. He was made a freeman 21 May1657, and was 
deputy in the General Court, 1657- 1661 and 1675, ensign of 
the Wethersfield trainband, 1658, lieutenant, 1665, captain, 
1670, and commissioner for Wethersfield, 1665-1675. At the 
outbreak of King Philip's War he was appointed, 9 July 1675, 
a member of the Council. The inventory of his estate amounted 
to £1100.* 

Children by first wife: 
i. CAPT. SAMUEL, b. 13 Apr. 1660; d. 28 Aug. 1731; m .. 20 June 1683 

R uTH R1cE, daughter of Edmund Rice of Marlborough, Mass. 
From him descended Hon. Gideon Welles, Secretary of the Navy 
in the administrations of Presidents Lincoln and Johnson, 1861-
1869. 

•Manwaring is in error in giving tho dnto o! the invontor.v. The statement on p. 388 of vol. 2 
ol the .. Connecticut Colony Records" ' t hat the Council gave instructions to him, 1 Dec. 1675, 
for hie march to New London is no error. The originul record shows thnl it wns Captain Watte 
to whom tbe inst.ructions wore gi\'eu. 



ii. 

w. 

l V. 

v. 

vi. 
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CAPT. TIIOMAS, b. 29 July 1662; d. 7 Dec. 1711 ; m. (1) at Wethers­

field, 7 Jan. 1696/ 7, 1\JANKFUf, RooT, daughter of J ohn R oot of 
Northampton, Mass.; m. (2) at Wethersfield, 17 May 1705, JEau­
SllA TnEAT, daughter of Lieut. James T reat. 

SARAH, b. 29 Sept. 1664· d. 29 J une 1694; m. (1) 4 Dec. 1683 
EPanAm HAWLEY of Stratford; m. (2) AuGun TOMLINSON of 
Stratford. 

MARY, b. 23 Nov. 1666; d. 18 Feb. 1715; m., as his second wife, 
SAMUEL HALE. 

ANN, b. in 1668; d. at Wethersfield in 1739; m. (1) 19 J uly 1687 
CAPT. JAMES STEELE of Wethersfield; m. (2) 20 Nov. 1718, ns his 
second wife, J AMES J uosoN of Stratford. 

E LJZADETII, b. in 1670; d. before 6 May 1746; m. 4 Apr. 1692 
D ANIEL SHELTON of Stratford. 

ADDENDUM 

[Reprinted from 
TIIE NEW ENGLAND HISTORICAL AND GENEALOGICAL REGISTEn 

for October, 1926] 

ANCESTRY OF Gov. THOMAS WELLES: ADDITIONS. - Since the publication in 
the REGISTER of July 1026 of the article entitled "The English Ancestry of Gov. 
Thomas Welles of Connecticut" (vol. 80, pp. 279-305) additional information 
relating to the Welles family and to the Tomes family (to which Governor 
Welles's wif-e belonged) has been sent to me by Colonel Banks and is herewith 
submitted, together with an abstract of a final concord of 1615 which was over­
looked by me in a rranging the records for the article in the July issue. 

FnoM TIIE TRANSCRIPTS OF TUE p A111Sll REGISTERS OF TIDMINGTON, 
CO. WORCESTER* 

1611 John child of Robart Welles christened Ci August. 
1612 Giles Welles and Frances Chadwell married 6 October. 
1613 Hanna child of Robo.rt Welles christened 10 October. 
1616 Mary child of Rober t Welles christened 25 April. 
1623 Hester daughter of Robt. Welles baptized 6 April. 
1627 J oane Welles wife of Robt. Welles buried 23 May. 
1627 Robert Welles "afforesaid" buried 21 June. 
1637 Samuel Wells son of John and Elizabeth Wells baptized 6 August. 

FnoM FEET OF Furnst 
Fin al Concord made in Michaelmas T erm, 13 James I (2-25 Novemhcr 1615] 

between Thomas Kecke and Joseph Phelps, querents, and Robert Wells, Sr. and 
Alice, his wife, Robert Wells, J r., and Joan, his wife, and T homas Wells, defor­
ciants, concerning one messuage, one cottage, two gardens, two orchards, seventy 
acres of land, .six acres of meadow, forty acres of pasture, and six acres of furze, 
heath, and common pasture, in Burmington, co. Warwick, with warranty against 
Robert , Robert, and Thomas, their heirs and assigns. (Feet of Fines, Warwick­
shire, Michaelmas Term, 13 J ames I , 366.) 

FnoM PnoDATE REconns 
The Will of JOHN To~IES of Marston-Sicca, co. Gloucester, dated 21 May 1602. 

To my daughter Anne Tomes my lease in t he manor of ~larston. To the child 
my wife Anne now goeth with all the residue of my lands in Marston. To my 
wife Ann the use of the above lands, while she remains "sole and unmarried." 
To my daughters Anne Tomes, Joan Tomes, and Alice Tomes £20 apiece. T o 
John George, my kinsman, £10. To Marie Kecke, daughter of my son William 
Kecke, £20. To the unmarried children of my sister Alice !(peke l Os. T o the 
children of my brother William Holtam. To the ch ildren of my brother T homas 
Altam. To my sister Joan Harrington. To my wife 1gnes [sic] the residue of 

•Prescrvec.1 in the Diocesan Registry, Worcester. The transcripts for the ycnrs 1621 nnd 1028-
1630 are missing. Tho extant original registers or the puriah or Tidn1inston begin in 1691. 

tPrescrvcd in the Public Record Office, London. 
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• my estate, and she is to be executrix. Proved 3 November 1602. (P.C.C., 

Montague, 73.) 
The entries from the transcripts of the Tidmington registers, given above, 

add to our knowledge of the family of Robert Welles (No. 3 i, of the pedigree 
printed in the REGISTER, vol. 80, p. 300)t.J?rother of Gov. Thomas Welles, by 
supplying the dates of burial of Robert welles and his wife and the dates of 
baptism of his children John, Hannah

1 
Mary, and Hester, his daughter Mary 

· appearing later in Connecticut as the wife of John Robbins of Wethersfield. The 
final concord of 13 James I is the fine or agreement relating to the Burmington 
property which was mentioned in the answers of George Neale, Giles Tomes, 
and Richard Samon to tbe bill of complaint brought in Chancery by J ohn Wells 
in 1648 (vol. 80, p. 285) . John Tomes the testator of 1602, whose will is 
given above, was the father of Governor Welles's wife, and mentions in his will 
this daughter, Alice, then a mere child. 

The Tomes family of Marston-Sicca, or Long Marston, in Gloucestershire 
(there is another Long Marston in Yorkshire), some five miles northwest from 
Shipston-on-Stour in Worcestershire, was related to the armigerous gentry and 
was made famous by the story of how John Tomes, after the Battle of Worcester, 
in 1651, concealed for one night, in his house at Marston-Sicca, the royal fugitive, 
Charles II, who was disguised as a cook's boy under the name of Will Jackson. 
The tale is told as follows in W. H. Hutton's "Highways and Byways in Shake­
speare's Country," pp. 236-237 : 

"At the 'Kings Lodge,' the ancestors of Mr. Tomes, its present possessor, 
received Charles II. and gave the fugitive a night's rest, when he was Jane 
Lane's servant, on his escape from Worcester. It is at the end of the village, 
southwest of the church. Happily it bas been hardly altered at al~ outside it 
is of little interest, but there are some almost untouched rooms withm. Charles' 
own account of his escape, dictated to Pepys, shO\ys that he 'lay at Long-Marston,' 
he and Mrs. Lane, after they had been frighted near Stratford-on-Avon by a 
troop of horse, aud had parted from Mrs. Lane's sister's husband. Ere speaks of 
it as 'in the vale of Esham.' 'Boscobel,' the 'Compleat History of his Sacred 
Majesty's Most Miraculous Preservation' (1680), tells that in Mr. Tomes's 
house, 'Will Jackson, being in the kitchen, in pursuance of his disguise, and the 
cook maid busy in providing supper for her master's friends, she desired him to 
wind up the Jack. Will Jackson was obedient, and attempted it, but hit not 
the right way, which made the maid in passion ask, 'What county man are you, 
that you know not how to wind up a Jack'? Will Jackson answered very satis­
factorily : 'I am a poor tenant's son of Colonel Lane in StalTordshire. We seldom 
have roast meat, but when we have we don't make use of a Jack,' w'hich in some 
measure assuaged the maid's indignation. Charles stayed there but one night 
and then 'without any considerable accident rode by Campden and arrived at 
an inn in Cirencester.' " 

The John Tombs who rendered such timely aid to Charles II was the half brother 
of Alice (Tomes) Welles, the wife of Governor Welles; and I hope to be able to 
communicate to the REGISTER, in the near future, an article on Alice Tomes 
and her ancestry, which will be based on material collected by Colonel Banks. 

Bronxville, N. Y . LEMUElL ATKEN WELLES. 
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1.'.iG WEL LES FAMILY. 

died before that t ime, J ohn :Martin, the other son-in-law, is 
no t mentioned. The dates of the deaths of Thomas Welles 
and his wife, as gi\'en in the town records, correspond with 

· tho i11scr iptions copied below." 
"Interred here the uooY of the Rev. Mr. Thomas '\Velles, 

first Pastor of the first church of Cnms:r in .Amesbury, who de· 
\lcparted this li fe July ye 10th, 1734, in yo 87Lh year of his age 
and t he G2d of his ministry, having served his generation by 
t ho will of Gor\ he fell nslcep, and· (we trnst) cnjoyE a 
l!rophet's rcw:ucl-for tho' Is ra:il should not be Gathered, 
yet wo111<l t he faithfu l minister of the Gospell be glorious in 
the Ey es of t he I~ono." f~ 

He marricli at ~cwbury ;\[arch 3, 1671, :i\lary.J?.1uke1. 

,John , 
Luke, 
Titus, 
8 011, 
Soo, 

Clll!.DREN : 

born Feb. 2, 1072. Abigail, born about 1682. 
:i\Cnrch l!J , 107·1. lllary, " " 1G84. 
l\larch 14, IG7ii. Eli1 zer, " June 10, 1 G8G. 
about 1677. Elizabetll, " D ec. 7, 1688. 

" IG80. Joh n, " Oct. fl, 1692. 

" Interred here the body of Mrs. M'ary ' V clles, dec'd Jan· 
nary the 2Gth, 1727, aged 75 years, lat e wife of Mr. Thomas 
Wel l e~ . 

Dea.th is not du mb ; it bids ue nil 
Prepare before by it we fall. 
\Ve know not ho w nor where nor when. 
Fit now or never-we cannot then." 

PnOGE:-<IrOR No. VII. < 

I-ION. WILLIAM WELLES, of Southold, Suffolk Co., 
L. J., was born at or near Norwich, Norfolkshiro 

E 
. ) 

ng., m year 1G08, and emigrated tci America about I G35. 
H e was stated to h:we been a passenge1· in tho ship F ree 
Love, of London, Robert Denni8, lllflStcr, 10th June, 1635, 
ancl was 27 years of age at that time. He was an educa ted 
lawyer in England, and ll ig h Sheriff 0£ New Yorkshire on 
Long I. land. His supposed brother, Richard, came in t he 

lVH /, /,88 F..t .lfl /, r 1.; 7 

ship Glol>c in that year, an<l _'Will iam probably came abo ut 
t~e same time. Ile landed at f;ale m or Boston, and in 1638 
he removed with others and beg:rn th e set t lement of Lynn, 
Mass., where another su ppo;;ct1 brother, ·George,. had set tled, 
and whence in Hi4 0 to N cw 1fonrn, Conn ., a11d thence with 
other emigrants crossed L ong Isl and Sound, a 11 d founded the 
town of Southold, L. I., in l G-l J, where he lin:tl t he residue 
of his lifetime, and died N o \'. a, 1G7 1, agc<l 03 years. 
qeorgc settled at Sout ham pton, L. J., at sanw t ime. 

' William vVcllcs, of South old, L. T. (orig inally F c11n ycock), 
was probably the Ron of ~illiam \V el le:-;, l' rcbendary of N or· 
wieb Cathedral and R ector of St. l'ctcr';; 1\£ ancroft Norwich 

' ' ' from 1598 to his death in I 020. " T he tomlistone of P rebon· 
dary 'V elles is in the church, aml 11 CJH t he altar, of. "t . P eter 
.Manero ft a t Norwic:h, Engl and, an tl licar;; the Coat J\r111011 1· of 
the Barons '\Vcllcs of Lincoln ;;hi rc, wit,h a lior<l 11rc fo r <l iffcr­
ence . Ile was fo r th irt y yea r,; a priest of g reat holiness of 
life and unwearied diligence in pas\oral work in Norw ich. 
He died May 26, 1620, aged ;,.1." 

" ' Villiam ' Voiles, o f f'o ntholcl , gent., Justice of th e 1'eacc, 
and l st Sheriff of New Yorkshire of Lono- I slaml who de-'"' , 
parted this li fe Nov . 13, 1G7l , Ac. G3." B11ryi1w-<: ro11nd 
Southold. Inscri ption : "' ' 

Y cs , here he lies who speaketh yet, though d cnu ; 
On l•ings o f faith hi s soul to I leaven has flctl. 
His pious deeds and chnrity w 11s s uch 
That of his praise no pen can write too much. 
As was his life, sown~ (his) blcsl decease; 
H ee li ved in Jo,·e and swcr.1ly dyed in peace.'' 

"1640.-William "'Welles, a resident of Southold, L. I., at 
New Haven questioned about land bo ught of Indians, with 
Mr Odell, for which he d rcw a deed, etc." 

"1653.-,Vas a deputy to New ll av cn General Court. Com· 
plained of J. Y oungs." 

" 1653.-IIc pctit i0ned t o be free from public service. N ot 
granted." 
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" 1656.-0r<lerc<l that his" ~x pcnsC!s Le )':-ti c!, for g-oi 11g to 

N e w Haven iu 16:34." 

"1657.-lle was elected D eputy to X e w l la v1· 11 Court. 
Did no t a~tend ." 

"Dec. 166 1.- lteceivell a r e lease from J ohn 'l'utl1 ill fo n ;hare 
of H enry and .J.o hn Tuthill 's property, which c:w1u to hi s 
hands from his fir!'t wife Bridget, o r ot.hcrwi:;c." 

"lGGO.-Ile was a c t ing a s :ut.o rney at New lT:t\'c 11, Uorrn., 
al:-;o, Arbit rator o f ~out.hold, L. l. Hccein :d release fro 111 
\V. JohnRon, who had married ElizaLe th, <lr. of H en ry Tut­
hill. " 

I GG0...-1 l f' was I: cconler of, 'outho ld. 
" l Gu I .- I le was :ljl)>Qiut.cc,l Assi, taut. J\I agi!<tratc. " 
" 1G u3.- H e o pposed u11iti11g with Conncctic 11 t co lo 11y, 

llartfonl, under new Charte r, auc1 repo rted th1· en 11r,;t• t:lk e11 
t o the 1\ew lbYcn C olony." 

"1GG 4- 5.-He was nppoi11ted at New Y ork l1r (: u\'. Nicoll 
o f th e S tate of New Y o:·k, as S he riff o f Ea;: t i•art o f J,011g 
hla nll." 

" l GG5.-Ilc was Deputy fro m . 011tho l1l t<) th1• J\ c w 1· ork 
Uolo n:-i l :\ s. c111l.il y :<t H empstead, L. l. 

"1G71, No,·. i :i.-D eed t o his wife i\lary of' :ill his house~ 
and lands, goods and eh nttels i11 Southoltl, for maintena ncf' 
of her~el f :ln<l child ren, a11d with po wer t o allo t port io ns for 
the c hiltlre11." 

Jle m:-irried, about lG·IG, Hri lget, widow of, llcnry Tut hil l, 
Ly whom he h ad no child nm. S he ( 1c at Sout.ho ltl nbo u t 
1G5:!. He marri ccl 2d, in 105G, wife named J\Iary, b orn in 
1G1 a. C hilclrcn: 

A\Jiguil, \Jorn 111J1111t ](j57. 
Patien ce, " Oc t. 17, Hi5::l. 
Willinm, " :\L1y 5, llHiO. 
J'llary, " 11\JouL Hi(ll. 

i !!cthia, !Jorn 
N!>SliUir) 

in 1GG3. 
in lGG~. 
in Jf;(Jt.i. I M cliTiiible , 

Anna, " nu·1. HlGR 

" .l\fary, wife o r \Villiam \Vcll cs, rate <l on 2ti ac re:<, 2·1 cat.­
tic, 8 horses, 2 7 s heep, e t c., £"!. I 7 l Os. " Sht' cl ied Apri I, 1 70!), 
aged 90. 

II" HU. 1-;.-; I-". I .1/ / /. J". 1!i!l 

" Famil y 11arne not t r:-tcN1. .Sh<' was :111 l'XtnLOrdinary 

woman. 
" :Ma ry, widow of \Villi an1 \\'<'lit•><, 111arric<I Thomns 

1\lape~." 
'" \ Villiam \V ell cs was amo11g thu 111 J" t import:wt settle rs 

of8outhol1l , L. l., a fte r t he p11re l1:1,;e nf t hat town b y N C' w 
Haven. In conscqnc nce of t he f11 111hmt•11 t :-il princ iple of the 

New H ave n C o lo ny, t hat no pN>'on eo11ld h ol ol o fli cc or b e n 
freeman bu t t h rn;c who we re 111 c 111 \ 1e r.~ of the ltev. J ohn 
Y o ung':; church, Sont.hoJ.l aftf'rW:tnb 1111itetl w ith the Con­

nect ic ut Colony." 

\V1 L1 .JA~1 \\'1·:1.1.1·:s, ,.cll1 o f \\' illi: 1111 \\'t• lil'", of l\ u n vich , E11.g . , 
and Soutl1o l1l, wa ,; ho rn :1t S011tholol , L. 1., l\lay 5, JGOO, :111d 

d ied the re Oct. , IG(H;. :llarried :1t So11 tho l1l .Tune l, IGS I, 
E lizabeth, 11:t11gh tt•r o f .Toh11 T11thill, of So11th ol1l, L. I. 
Child ren: 

W illiam, liorn Marc h ;JU, Jt.iS:L 
John, •· .I nn. :ll , IG~\I. 1

11 enry. u•Jl'll Ft·ll. ';' . \G!IO. 
~l n r.\· , " in ycnr J (l\) I. 

· " 16S3.-\Villa111 Well e~ ra tl•d on t:8ii." 

"1G~4.-Dccr1 l1 y h im n11 cl 111>< n1othcr :ll:1ry , t o .foh11 O o ld­

smit.h." 
"JG85.- D cc<l Jo y him :1 11 <1 ht >< 11wthl·r J\l :uy~ t o .J ohn Tut-

hill and wife ." 
" J GSG.-3 malt•s a11d "!. (cma le:.: in hi" f:rn1i ly." 
" 1 (i ·s a nd 'D.-1 >l·C'd with hi :.: mot her t o .J oh 11 Osm:rn ." 
" 1G!.J5.-Decd wit.Ii hi!'< rn oth(• r or I ~ arre~, t o .Jonathan 

and Bct h i:i Ilorto11." 
"Jul.JG, Se pt . 25.- \Vi ll. Nan1 p,; wife, e t c. J'ro ved .l a 11. 

1 !.J, l G!l7." 

J o:rn u,, \V1.:1.u .::; , .lus ti cC' o f l'1!:t t"t', sixth d1 il tl of \.Yilliarn 
\ Velie!'<, of Sou t h old, L. r., wa~ h orn in :-io u thol <l, L. I. , i11 

1664, where he d ied i11 I i4~. li e mar ricll at So11t.hol<l, .Jau. 
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now occupied by Merriam & Corwin, where they con­
tinued their business until 1849, when they opened a 
general hardware house, and did a large mercantile 
business until the retirement of both members of the 
firm from the active duties of life in 1869. 

Mr. Smith's career, both in business and private 
life, was one of distinguished integrity and above re­
proach. He was of a retiring disposition, unostenta.­
tious in his ways, and always sought the happiness of 
others, while he enjoyed the common benefits of life 
accruing to himself. He was never solicitous of any 
official position, and preferred the quiet routine of a 
business life to the bickerings of political strife or the 
emoluments of office. 

Mr. Smith was the senior warden of St. Jam es' 
Church at Goshen, and filled that position and the 
office of vestryman for many years. Born with the 
beginning of the century, he attained the ripe age of 
eighty years, his death occurring June 4, 1880, and 
his long life was devoted to kindness to his fellow­
men and deYotion to his :;,\laker. He left behind him 
the useful lesson of a good example. 

His wife was Ellen, daughter of Moses and Eleanor 
(Holly) Sawyer, and granddaughter of James and 
Elizabeth (Bradner) Sawyer, of Goshen, born Feb. 23, 
1817, whom he married Dec. 5, 1838. She died March 
23, 1864, leaving three children, viz.: Mary Ellen, 
born Sept. 20, 1839, died Nov. 1, 1858; :Tulia, born 
Sept. 11, 1843, became the wife of William D. Van 
Vliet, a merchant at Goshen, and died July 28, 1880, 
leaving two children,-J ohn Jewell and Julia Marion; 
and John Ogden Smith, for several years a clerk in 
his father's store, and for the past few years a clerk in 
the Goshen Xational Bank. 

ALFRED WELLS. 

For about one hundred and fifty years the Wells 
family bas been identified with the history of Goshen, 
Orange Co., N. Y., and the homestead upon which 
John Wells settled in Goshen about 1735, then a wil­
derness tract of land, containing 240 acres, has been 
successively owned by the members of four genera­
tions, and upon it the subject of this sketch has spent 
his life. 

The progenitor of the Wells family from which 
Alfred Wells is descended, was Hon. William 
Wells, who was born at or near Norwich: Norfolk­
shire, England, in 1608, and emigrated to America 
about the year 1635. He was stated to have been a 
passenger on the ship " Free-Love," of London, 
Robert Dennis master, June 10, 1635, and was 
twenty-seven years of age at that time. He was 
an educated Jawyer in England, and high sheriff 
of New Yorkshire, on Long Island. 

His son, Justice Joshua Wells, was born at South­
old, L. I., in 1664, and died there in 1744. John, 
son of Justice Joshua, born at the same place, Jan. 
31, 1689, also died there. John, son of John, born at 

the same place about 1715, died in Orange County 1 

July 4, 1776, is supposed to be the first settler of the 
family in Goshen, and the one mentioned at the be­
ginning of this sketch. His son Joshua, born at 
Goshen in 1744, succeeded to the homestead, upon 
which he resided during his life, and died in 1819. 
He was a soldier in the colonial army during the 
Revolutionary war. 

His wife, Rhoda Booth, was a granddaughter of 
William Bull and Sarah Wells, who bore him the 
followiug children: :Mary (wife of George Phillips), 
John, George, Joshua, Jr., Christina (wife of John 
Decker), Dolly (wife of Edward Ely), Sarah (wife of 
James Tuthill). He was one of the ea}"Jy members 
of the Presbyterian Church at Goshen. 

Of these children, Joshua Wells, Jr., was father 
of our subject, and was born on the homestead, Sept. 
6, 1779, and died there in 1867. He carried on the 
homestead farm during his active business life, was a 
man of good judgment, correct habits, and strong 
force of character. He sought to fulfill the full 
duties of the good citizen, and was known by his 
fellow-men as a man of sterling integrity, not solici­
tous of public place, frank and manly in his ways, 
and a Christian man. 

His wife was Jemima, daughter of Jonathan Sayer, 
of the town of Goshen, born in 1779, and who died 
in 1811, leaYing the following children: Adeline 
(wife of James C. Reeve), Alfred, Mnry Jane (died 
unmarried), Jerome was a physician of Goshen, and 
died here, and Frances (wife of Adrian Holbert, of 
Goshen). 

His second wife was Katy Ford, who bore him 
children, viz.: Julia (wife of John M. Ford) and 
Elizabeth (unmarried). His second wife died in 
October, 1834. 

Alfred, son of Joshua 'Velis, Jr., was born on the 
homestead, ~ ov. 17, 1805. His early education was 
received in the common school, and at Farmers' 
Hall Academy at Goshen. For one term he was a 
teacher, but succeeded to the homestead property, 
upon which he has spent most of his business life. The 
present residence on the farm was built by his father 
during his lifetime, and during the last three years 
:Mr. Wells has caused to be erected one of the finest 
and most substantial barns in Orange County. Mr. 
Wells succeeded to the old homestead by inherit­
ance, to which he has made an addition of a small 
parcel o.f land, and is the possessor of other valuable 
property besides. 

He is a man of·determined ·effort, judicious in the 
management of his affairs, and, although far past the 
active duties of life, finds pleasure in the care and 
superintendence of the place of his birth, where he 
and his wife spent so many happy years together. 

Mr. Wells always gave encouragement to all ob­
jects of a local nature tending in any way to the pros­
perity of the people and the development of interests 
m his own town, and although, like his forefathers, 
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Hugh YiellF. s - Born England 
~~rrifld 

1590 - Died 1645 Bedford, C~nnectiout 
........ 

Frsnoi:;s Belcher Bern England - Died 1678 - He'frlf_y, Massachusette 

Thoroo s Welle s - Born Englend 1625 Died 1676 - Hadley Ma ssechu setts 
~rrie d 

Mary Beardsle.y - Eorn Died 

Noah Welles ,porn July 3fa,l666 Died 1712 Stamford, Connecticut 
Ma rried ~~% tu nJ ! 

:Jary White Eorn I 'tJ L-ied Eadley, Massachusetts 

Lt. Noah Welles Born August 1686 Died ~g 10, 1753 - Connect icut 
Married April 15, 1714 -~ 

Sarah Wyatt Eorn 1693 Died !lay ~ l 769 ,. t I <.. • .,..... ' - · ' - .__\. \ . ,:.; ... , 

i 

. I 

5 Rev. Noah We lles (~o!? ~-e_P:t• 25, 171.~, Died Dec. :n, 
Married Sept 17,175(C~~~ hester, Conn -r ~ t!arried -

1778-Stsmfor~ .• Conn. 
Oyster Bay, New 'lork 

Abigail Woolsey /J.o rJ'J Oct 31,1730 Oyster Eay , N.Y. Died Oct 28, 1 811 Stsmfordj) Conn. 
I 

6 Dr. Benjamin 7iel)E s Born Nov. 21, 1756 Stamford Conn. Died Apr 19 l813-~eyne1 Steuben Co l-i-Y 
Married June 1::,, 1782 Phillipstown, New York \Harr.ilton, Ill or 

Sarah (Sally) Nelson-Born Aug 11,1702 Mamaroneck, N.Y. Died Feb 23, 1853-Steuben Co.N.~ ' 
( ' 

7 Theodosie Welles Eorn na~.a!l,11~96 Died Oct. 14,1873 Galatia, Illinois or Kincehook NY 
Married 1Bl7 
Joseph Irvin B~rn Jul~, 7, 1791 New Jersey Died Oct 2, l-85'Z....~i Gd: 2, 18W Galatia Ill 

8 Benjamin Franklin Irvin- oonn Sept 17, 1822 Steuben ·c,o. NY Died 
llarded 1806-Saline Co.' Ill (3rd llVlrria ge) 

Jan 2.1,, 1889 Galatia Ill 

Eljza~eth Hall Baldwin i orn, 8>eab$. Carolina 
Naef); 

Died Paragould Ark- 1900 or 1907 
Buried Faragould Ark. 

9 Edith Lyle, Irvin Born Mar 29 1878 Galetia,Ill- Died Jan 5, l9o0 Hot Sprine;s, Ark. 
Married May 13,, 1897 - Brook'land,, Arkansas 

Madison Stovall Cobb- Born Pontd: oo or Union County.Miss. 11.sroh 20, 1864 
Died- r.ot Springs , Arkansas Feb 9, 1937 

De :.nie Cobb§ Gir 1 
N~l lJ."' Co.bb x Twins Born .,..an. 2 189c. De · "' :: "' x c.11 4 .., - ni son,, l exa s 

Lucy !lee Cobb Eorn May 29,, 1900-Euckville, Garland Co. Ar k. 

Fra nkye Cobb Born Augus t 8, 1902 .. Rct Springs, Arltanss s 
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! 
As anyone with Well$/Welles ancestry knows, this 

name is very common and tHe task of sorting out members 
of one family from thosel.of other families with this 
surname who are living in proximity is a rather daunting 
task. In an effort to ic;lentify one of the author's 
ancestor's origin in Rhode Island it was found that 
little had been published! concerning either Peter1 or 
Thomas 1 Wells of that stat~. And, in fact, even Savage 
seemed unaware of Peter1 • ~herefore, the writer assem­
bled, to the best of her ability, the early descendants 
of both of these immigrants! although complete confidence 
in these accounts cannot be assured. 

The one account we forind of Thomas 1 was reported by 
Cutter (1913, 4:2085ff .) and we judged it to be a dubious 
rendering, but nevertheles~ present it here. Thomas 1 is 
said to have been the son\ of Nathaniel 1 who was born 
about 1600 and came from Colchester, England, where he 
owned many valuable shipya~ds as well as a large hotel. 
Despite his social status, !he made some public remarks 
favoring the Puritan perspective and on this account was 
forced to flee the country. He came to Boston in 1629 and 

I took the freeman's oath the~e on 2 November 1637. In 1639 
or 1640 he removed to Rhode1 Island and settled near the 
present town of Westerly 11and founded a town cal led 
Wellstown on land he purchased from the Narragansett 
Indians. He died there in ~681. Crandall (1949, p. 11) 
supports the account. ! 

Nathaniel 1 is said to be the son of a Thomasa who 
was born in 1566 at Essex,\ Lancashire, England. He is 
also said to be the brother pf the following immigrants: 
Hugh of Hartford, Conn.; Joseph of Boston; Deac. Thomas 
of Ipswich; George and Willi~m of Lynn, and Deac. Richard 
of Salisbury, all in Mass~chusetts. Since we see no 
compelling evidence of these! assertions, we label Thomas 
of Westerly as THOMAS 1 and ,I in fact, Savage does not 
acknowledge the existence ofi this Nathaniel in any case. 
Nor do we vouch for the assJrtion that THOMAS 1 was born 
at Colchester in 1626. We dd acknowledge the facts that 
THOMAS 1 was a shipbuilder and that he named a son Nathan­
iel, coincidences which might lend support to the conten­
tion that he was a son of Nathaniel and, as noted, he did 
move to Westerly after sojour~s in New London, Conn. and, 
pre suma b 1 y, Ipswich, Mass . 'i 

When it comes to PETER1 ~ no relationship to either 
THOMAS1 or any other immigrant bearing this surname has 
even been suggested. Furthbr details appear in the 
accounts of these two Rhode [slanders which follow. 

11 
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PETER WELLS of Kings Town, Rhode Island 
I 

As previously noted, \savage does not even acknow­
ledge that PETER1 WELLS was an early immigrant, but 
Austin (1969) gives us an putline of the family for the 
first two generations and Rhode Island vital records help 
to extend our knowledge asi, to some small extent, does 
Wright and Tuthill's 1918 genealogy of one line of 
PETER1

' s descendants. We make no guarantees that the 
following is correct, but i!t is the best we could derive 
from the vital records. 1 

PETER1 was born about !11630 since ~e was 85 in 1715 
when he gave testimony. Hi~ wife appears to be unknown 
although some have designa~ed her as Susannah Peckham, 
daughter of John1 and Eleanor (Craft) Peckham, this 
assumption perhaps based od references to John1 Peckham 
(NEHGR 57:31-39; GRIF 2:60) which indicate that he had 
a daughter Susannah who m~rried Peter Barker and then 
Peter Wells. However, it was Peter2 who married Peter 
Barker's widow and she was\ born a Saunders as wi 11 be 
seen below. He is said lby Austin (op.cit.) (with 
evidence) to have been first at Jamestown and on 29 
December 1684 he was given, lby the Town Council of Kings 
Town (now Kingston), all the\ estate of William Salter who 
had died on 24 December that year, this gift made on 
condition that he maintain ~alter's aged mother, "Jone." 
According to Austin, this W!lliam was the son of Sampson 
and Joanna Salter who ca~e from Caversham, Oxford, 
England, to Newport, Rhode Island, on the James and 
Coldham (1987, p. 134) confi~ms this report, listing only 
Sampson, fisherman. PETER1 \ was made Executor of the 
estate. Perhaps there is some clue to his wife in the 
Salter family. I 

According to Wright an~ Tuthill (op. cit.), PETER1 

lived at Jamestown in 1667 and was a member of the town 
council there in 1683 when he granted letters of admin­
istration to Hannah Clarkel widow of William Clarke. 
Jamestown was incorporated 41 November 1678 and PETER1 was 
made a freeman by the Gener~! Assembly of the Colony at 
Newport on 6 May 1679. Acco~ding to the authors he was 
apparently not related to N~thaniel Wells of Jamestown 
on the mainland. i 

It is contended by on~ or more descendants that 
PETER1 was born at Colchester, England, to Thomasa and 
Abigail (Warner) Wells, this Thomasa being born 11 
December 1605 at Colchester \and his marriage to Abigail 
taking place 23 July 1639 a~ St. Botolph's, Colchester. 
Thomas is said to have died 2~ October 1666 at Salisbury, 
Essex, England. Abigail is ~aid to be the daughter of 

21 
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William1 and Abigail (Bake~) Warner, her father coming to 
America and dying about 1.648 at Ipswich, Mass. Savage 
(4:424) says he had sons Daniel and John "beside ad. wh. 
m. Thomas Wells." Torrey sa'.ys that William1 Warner was of 
Ipswich and Salisbury, born in 1586 and died in 1647. We 
make no claims for the accuracy of this construction. 

On the 4th of July l693, Henry Hall of Westerly 
deeded to "Peter Wells of Kiingstown, Planter," 100 acres 
of land bordered by prope(rty of John Sheldon and Job 
Babcock. On 11 September 1702 PETER1 deeded the farm he 
lived on, this farm consisting of 100 acres, housing, 
orchard and etc., to his son Peter "for love, he having 
behaved himself dutifully to his said father in this my 
aged and feeble condition.!" This is the same land he 
purchased from Henry Hal 1 . '1 

On 23 August 1715 PETER1 testified as to knowledge 
of land in Jamestown 42 yea~s before and many years after 
that time. The precise date of his death seems to be 
unknown. In 1720 his son Peter was still called "Jr." It 
is known that his son John refused administration on his 

I 

estate which was then accepted by his son Peter, Jr., on 
8 June 1724 (RIGR 5:3:195) !although Wright and T~thill 
claim that he died in 1715.I 

Unfortunately, in the\ recording of his children 
several of his daughters are unnamed and their mother is 
never named. Nor do we knowrhat became of the daughters 
although one might guess th~t some had died young. The 
vital records of Jamestown glve no names and only partial 
dates. In some cases there i~ added information regarding 
these dates which is enclose1d in parentheses below. Note 
that the "possibilities" below are pure speculation. 

I 

Children of PETER1 WELLS by ::an unrecorded wife: 
i. "Daughter" 2 WELLS, ib. May 1667. Poss. the LYDIA 

WELLS who m. 28 \March 168 7 at Providence, 
BENJAMIN HEARNDON/i\HARRINGTON? 

(2) ii. THOMAS2 WELLS, b. (September 1669 at East 
Greenwich, RI). \ 

iii. "Daughter" 2 WELLS, I b. November 1671. 
iv. "Daughter" 2 WELLS, t b. ( 20) July 167 3. 

(3) v. JOHN2 WELLS, b. (May) 1676 at North Kingstown, 
RI. i 

vi. "Daughter" 2 WELLS, 1

1
b. ( 21) January 1678. Poss. 

the ELIZABETH WELLS whom. ROBERT POTTER of No. 
Kingstown, he b. 1~76 and d. 1745? 

vii. "Daughter"2 WELLSJ b. June 1680. Poss. the 
REBECCA WELLS b. i January 1679/80 at Provi-
dence? \ 

(4) viii.PETER2 WELLS, b. 1681 at South Kingstown. 

31 
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ix. SUSANNA2 WELLS, b. 2 November 1684; d. 25 July 
1782; m. 9 Dece~ber 1708 at East Greenwich, 
ABNER SPENCER, :son of Dr. John and Susanna 
Spencer. Spencer\ ch.: Peter (b. 18 Nov. 1709); 
Susanna (b. 30 Aug. 1712); Ruth (b. 8 May 
1714); Alice (bJ 8 Oct. 1719); James (b. 10 
Apr. 1722); Abner (b. 11 Feb. 1725); Thomas. 

x. Unnamed twin WELLS, b. 2 November 1684; d.i. 
I 

THOMAS2 (PETER1 ) WELLS, b. September 1669 at East 
Greenwich, RI; d. 16 October 1727; prob. m. before 
1696, SARAH ROGERS, dau. of Thomas2 (James 1 ) and 
Sarah Rogers of Newport, RI. On 28 Nov. 1716 Sarah 
had a legacy from her fa. Thomas. On 26 April 1729, 
admin. of Thomas 2

' s es\tate was given to eldest son 
Peter, inv. amounting1to £163.7.6. If Peter is his 
"eldest son," it se~ms strange that no other 
children are of record, but this is evidently the 
case. Austin gives hlim only son Peter, but we 
believe that Jonathan ~s also his. He could also be 
the father of EBENEZERlwho m. on 24 October 1726 at 
South Kingstown, Chlristopher Allen, Justice, 
ELIZABETH NASH. Ebenez~r was not a registered voter 
between 1747 and 1755 dor was he a resident of Rhode 
I s 1 and in 177 4 . (Ed . hot e : SARAH ROGERS has been 
assigned by some as the wife of THOMAS 2 , son of 
THOMAS 1 WELLS, but although his wife was a Sarah, 
SARAH ROGERS seems to !us to belong to this Thomas 
and a number of descendants agree.) 

! 

Children of THOMAS2 an~ SARAH (ROGERS) WELLS, all 
born at East GreenwichJ RI: 

i. PETER3 WELLS, b. c1a. 1696. 
ii. JONATHAN3 WELLS, b:. ca. 1698. 

I 

JOHN2 (PETER1 ) WELLS, bl May 1676 at Jamestown, RI; 
d. before 11 July 1732 (pro.); m. ca. 1698 at North 
Kingstown, ELIZABETH CONGDON, dau. of Benjamin and 
Elizabeth (Albro) Congdbn, b. 1682 and d. 1732. John 
lived his whole life at\ North Kingstown and left a 
will which was pro. 1~ July 1732, sons John and 
Benjamin, Execs. He lefit to wife Elizabeth a third 
of personal property arid privilege of house while 
wid. To eldest son John,I half of homestead, etc. and 
the other half to younger son Benjamin. To two sons, 
wearing apparel and farming tackling. To daus. Mercy 
Whitford, Elizabeth Sw~et, a daughter Wells (not 
named, but no doubt Mar~ha) and Susanna Wells, the 

I rest of the personal estate. Inv. valued pers. prop. 

41 

I 
I 



(7) 
(8) 

4. 

PETER WELLS FAMILY 
I 
I 

of mare, colt, and c~ttle at £31. (Ed. Note: see 
also Wright & Tuthill~ op. cit., p. 9.) 

i 
I 

Children of JOHN2 and :,ELIZABETH (CONGDON) WELLS: 
i. JOHN3 WELLS, b. ca. 1699. 

ii. BENJAMIN3 WELLS, ib. ca. 1701. 
iii. MERCY3 WELLS, b. 1704; m. S April 1722 at North 

Kingstown, DAVID\WHITFORD of East Greenwich. 
The descendants 9f Pasco Whitford are given in 
RIGR 11: 3: 156 showing that David was b. ca. 
1704 and d. befo~e S March 1744 when his will 
was proved. Whitford ch., 1st four b. at 
Exeter, others a~ E. Greenwich: Elizabeth Ann 
( b . 11 June 1 7 2 3 ) \; W i 11 i am ( b . 6 Sept . 1 7 2 5 ) ; 
Al ice (b. 6 March 1727; m. Nathan Dawley); 
David (b. 29 March 1729; m. Elizabeth[----]); 
Joshua (b. 23 Jun~ 1731; m. Prudence Burdick); 
Joseph (b. 7 June \1733); Jesse (b. 1735); John 
(b. 3 December 1~37; m. Mary and/or Margaret 
Butler of Branford, CT); Mary (b. February 
1740). I 

iv. ELIZABETH3 WELLS,\ b. ca. 1707; m. 1732, JOHN 
SWEET. ! 

v. MARTHA3 WELLS, b. ba. 1709 at North Kingstown; 
m. 9 January 1728/

1
9 at North Kingstown, JOSEPH 

CONGDON who was bo~n 15 February 1705 at North 
Kingstown. Congdod ch. all b. at No. Kingstown, 
RI: Freelove (b. !28 March 1730; m. Stephen 
Northrup); Benjamin (b. 28 August 1732; m. 
Hannah Briggs); Joseph (b. 29 April 1734; m. 
Susanna Tanner; Jdhn (b. ca. 1736); James (b. 
26 April 1738); G~orge (b. ca. 1740; m. Ann 
[----]; m. 2nd, D~borah Himes; m. 3rd, Eliza­
beth [----]); Stukeley (b. ca. 1742); Martha 
(b. ca. 1743; m. Qeorge Himes); Elizabeth (b. 
ca. 1745). ! 

vi. SUSANNA3 WELLS, b. !ca. 1711; alive in 1732. 
i 

PETER2 (PETER1 ) WELLS, b. 1681 at South Kingstown; 
d. before 11 December l732 (pro. of will) on the 
homestead left to him by his fa.; m. ca. 1704, ANN 
WATSON, dau. of John a~d Dorcas {Gardiner) Watson 
and shed. before 1728; \m. 2nd, 7 January 1726/7 at 
Westerly, SUSANNA (SAUNDERS) BARKER, wid. of Peter 
Barker and dau. of Tobias and Mary (Clarke) Saunders 
and by her he had no ch. \and shed. in 1733. In 1719 
he was at Kings Town, a freeman, called "Jr." On 24 
Nov. 1720 he and Job Babdock, both of Kingstown were 
involved in a boundary dispute which went to arbi-

s I 
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tration (RIGR 3:3:224). His will of 13 November 1732 
was pro. 11 Dec. 1732J Son James was named Exec. He 
left to son James a I quarter of a farm in South 
Kingstown and to sons Peter and John the rest of the 
farm, equally, exceptl8 acres he gave to son Samuel 
and firewood off the:rest. To dau. Ann Wells his 
best bed and privile~e to live in the house with 
son James while single\, £38 and etc. To dau. Rebecca 
Clarke, £8. To dau. Mary Wells, land and £8 at 20 
yrs. of age. To dau. Dprcas a bed and £8 at age 20. 
Son Samuel to live with James until of age and James 
to keep a horse for h1s bro. Peter until Peter was 
of age. To son James, ~he rest of the movables. Inv. 
showed value of £379~10. 6 and included a riding 
horse, 9 cows, heifer,\5 yearlings, mare, 37 sheep, 
10 books,· 3 beds, a gun, fowl, loom, and etc. On 1 
Feb. 1733 his wid. gare a receipt to her stepson 
James. This receipt was for £8 due from PETER2 to 
her dau. Sarah Barker \(Austin, op. cit., p. 438). 

1, 

Children of PETER2 and IANN (WATSON) WELLS, all born 
at South Kingstown: \ 

i. JAMES 3 WELLS, b. 30 September 1706. 
ii. ANN3 WELLS, b. 20 bctober 1708; m. 26 November 

1735 at South Kingstown, THOMAS FRAZER. 
iii. REBECCA3 WELLS, lJ. 30 December 1710; m. 4 

September 1731 at So. Kingstown, WILLIAM 
CLARKE. i 

iv. PETER3 WELLS, b. ~1 May 1 713 . 
v. Co 1 . JOHN3 WELLS, 1,b. 14 Apr i 1 1 716 . 

vi. MARY3 WELLS, b. 1718; m. 7 September 1738 at 
So. Kingstown, WitjLIAM CRAWFORD of Warwick. 

vii. DORCAS3 WELLS, b. ~7 September 1720; m. 4 May 
1742 at Charlestown, JOSHUA RATHBONE. 

viii.SAMUEL3 WELLS, b. 2 February 1725/6; alive in 
1732 (fa. 'swill) ;I n.f .r. 

I 
PETER3 (THOMAS2 , PETER1 ) jWELLS, b. ca. 1696; d. early 
1782; m. 11 December 17~3 at East Greenwich, ELIZA­
BETH SWEET, born 25 Feb\. 1703/4 at E. Greenwich to 
Henry3 ( John2- 1 ) and Margaret Sweet ace. to the Sweet 
geneals. (Sanborn, 1929\; Sweet, 1952). He m. 2nd, 
SUSANNAH CURTIS, no doubt a widow. He was at East 
Greenwich in 1755. He left a will dated 11 Dec. 
1781, pro. 27 Apr 1782. In it he ment. wf. Susannah 
who was to get what she brought to the m. and sons 
Benjamin, Peter and Silas as well as dau. Elizabeth 
Crandal 1. He al so ment J grson. George Wi 1 son and 
grsons. George and Benj:iin Wells. Finally, he ment. 
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Ann Wells, wid. of Thbmas of East Greenwich, dec'd 
(RIGR 1:220). There i~ much confusion with regard 
to the marriage of daughter "Dinah" who changed her 
name to Elizabeth and\m. a Crandall. 

I 

Children of PETER3 and\ELIZABETH (SWEET) WELLS, all 
registered at West Greenwich: 

i. THOMAS4 WELLS, b. 1p Apri 1 1734 at W. Greenwich; 
d. before 1781 but not before 1777 when he res. 
at E. Greenwich; •. 9 Jun 1758 at Exeter, ANN 
BISSELL of Exetbr, by Benjamin Reynolds, 
Justice. His wid. 1

, Ann was ment. in his fa.'s 
will. Did she m. 3\Nov. 1785 at West Greenwich, 
John Case? \ 

ii. DORCAS 4 WELLS, b. 30 October 1737 at No. Kings­
town; m. 23 Sep 17~8 JOSEPH REBEARNE and prob. 
m. 2nd, a WILSONl

1
• She had an i l legit. son 

"alias" William Gilchrist on 25 January 1756 
at West GreenwichJ Wilson ch.: George (in her 
fa.'s will). \ 

iii. DINAH4 WELLS, changed to ELIZABETH, b. 10 
I 

December 1739 at Np. Kingstown; alive in 1781 
·(fa.'s will); may\\ have m. 30 Apr 1760 at 
Westerly, JONATHAN CRANDALL, son of Joseph and 
Elizabeth (Crandall) Crandall (Crandall, 1949, 
p. 25.) if it wa~ not Elizabeth4 (Edward3 , 

Thomas2- 1 ) who m. hi. in which case she may have 
m. PETER CRANDALL,\ son· of Peter and Susanna 
(Tefft) Crandall (~randall, p. 38). 

iv. CALEB4 WELLS, b. 18 \July 1743 at No. Kingstown; 
prob. d. before 178~ as not in fa.'s will; res. 
at West Greenwich in 1774 with 2 males under 
16, wife, and anoth~r female over 16, but there 
is no m. for him id the vital records. 

v. BENJAMIN4 WELLS, bl\. 24 December 1745 at w. 
Greenwich. 

vi. PETER4 WELLS, b. 21 October 1748; m. 19 Nov 
1769 at Exeter, MARGARET CLEVELAND, dau. of 
Palmer3 ( Edward2 , Moses1 ) and Deborah (Gardner?) 
Cleveland, dec'd, by\ John Chapman, Justice. She 
was ment. in her fa.'s 1758 will, still unm. 
(Cleveland & Clevel~nd, 1899, 1:47). In 1774 
he res. at East Greenwich and was still there 
in 1777. We found nd ch. for him. 

viii.SILA~4 WE~LS, b. 22 Jf\anuary 1751; alive in 1781 
(fa. swill); n.f.r. 

\ 

7 
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JONATHAN3 (THOMAS2

, PE'DIER1
) WELLS was born about 1697 

and he married on 10 ~uly 1718 at East Greenwich, 
SARAH SWEET, daughter!of James Sweet of Warwick. 

Children of JONATHAN3 jand SARAH (SWEET) WELLS, all 
born at East Greenwich: 

i. SARAH4 WELLS , b. j 1 September 1719. 
ii. JAMES4 WELLS, b. ~5 October 1721. 

iii. PETER4 WELLS, b. da. 1723; d. 16 September 1757 
at East Greenwiqh; m. 2 July 1746 at East 
Greenwich, ELIZABETH SWEET, daughter of Richard 
Sweet of West Greenwich and she d. there 13 

I Sept. 1757. Ch.: unk. dau.; PETER (b. 21 Oct. 
17 48; prob. d. i . )

1

,; SARAH ("second daughter, " 
d. 18 Sept. 1757)!. 

I 
I 

JOHN3 
( JOHN2

, PETER1 ) ~ELLS was born about 1699, 
probably at North Kingstown, and died before his 
will of 2 February 1752lwas proved at Glocester, RI, 
on 2 July 1770. His wife was MARY, said to be MARY 
WELLS, and he had sods Joseph and John who were 
under age at the time tie wrote his will, a daughter 
Hannah Smith and a 4aughter Sarah Wells (RIGR 
4:1:63). He was of Glocester, RI, in the 1754 census 
of registered voters 11(MacGunnigle, 1977) and d. 
there. : 

I 
Children of JOHN3 and MARY (WELLS?) WELLS as per. 
will of their father: \ 

i . HANNAH4 WELLS, b. ica. 1728; m. ---- SMITH. 
ii. SARAH, b. ca. 1730f m. 4 May 1754 at Glocester, 

THOMAS WOOD . ! 

iii. JOSEPH, b. 8 June\1731 at Providence. 
iv. JOHN, b. ca. 1734; :Im. ca. 1755, MARY (----) and 

had at Glocester: ANNE, b. 8 May 1756; SARAH, 
b. 14 August 1758; HANNAH, b. 9 May 1763. He 
was registered for\ military service in 1777 at 
Providence with res. designated at Glocester. 

I 
BENJAMIN3 (JOHN2 , PETER1 1} WELLS, was born about 1701 
at North Kingstown andldied in 1798 at Foster, RI 
at the home of his son James. He was 97 yrs. old. 
He married 21 January 1730 at North Kingstown, MARY 
JORDAN ("Jurdan" in th~ record) who was born about 
1710 at North Kingstowri. Benjamin was made a free-

1 man by the general Asse,bly at Newport on 1 May 1722 
(Wright & Tuthill, op. cit., p. 11) and in 1756 he 
moved from North Kingst9wn to Scituate where he was 
listed as over 60 in the 1777 military census. We 

s\ 
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think he may be the fal. of MARY WELLS who m. 2 June 
1757 at Scituate, PHILIIP PARKER, but have no proof. 

Children of BENJAMIN3 lland MARY (JORDAN) WELLS: 
i. ELIZABETH4 WELLS, b. 1733; d. unm. 7 March 1823 

at Foster. \ 
(13) ii. JAMES4 WELLS, b. 27 March 1734 at Kingstown. 

i 
9. JAMES3 (PETER2 , PETER1 )\WELLS, b. 30 September 1706; 

m. 22 April, 1731 at South Kingstown, MARY BARBER 
or MARY BARKER, m. perf. by Robert Hannah, Justice. 
There is great debate! regarding wife MARY who is 
said to be a "Barker, "i dau. of Peter2 ( James1 ) and 
Freelove (Bliss) Bark~r (Barker, 1927), but in the 
account of the descepdants of Moses 1 Barber of 
Kingstown it is statedlthat she was the daughter of 
William2 and Mercy {Smith) Barber whereas Schroeder 
(1984) in her account bf the descendants of Moses 1 

Barber says that she w~s the dau. of William2 by 2nd 
wf. Sarah (Mumford) Barber. We cannot resolve the 
question. James died at South Kingstown in Nov. of 
1778 during the Revolution when he was a Capt. 
living in Hopkinton (RI\GR 3:1:9). They had lived at 
Westerly where he was t

1

axed in 1747 and 1748. On 12 
Feb. 1753 he and wife Mary deeded land in Richmond 
to Benjamin Chase (RIGR 2:4:209). In 1775 he sold 
his Westerly homeste~d to John White-horn of 
Newport. He and Mary deeded over land in Hopkinton 
"for love" in 1762 to son Peter (40 acres), Barber 
( 30 acres), and Jame~ ( 192 acres), he then of 
Hopkinton (RIGR 5:3:224). He left a will dated 16 
March 1778 ("13th yr. \of King George") which was 
proved at Hopkinton on\7 Dec. 1778. He named wife 
Mary, sons Barber, James, Peter, and Joshua, and 
daughter Barbara, now m~rried to Joseph Noyes. (Note 
that the VR are in error with respect to last two 
ch.'s b. dates.) : 

I 

i 
Children of JAMES3 and MARY (BARBER/BARKER?) WELLS 
all born at South King~town, Rhode Island: 

(14) i. JAMES 4 WELLS, b. 11November 1732. 
ii. BARBARA4 WELLS, b •, 1 August 1734; m. 31 July 

1754 at Westerly, i,JOSEPH NOYES. 
iii. PETER4 WELLS, b. 29 August 1737; m. 1 March 

1759 at South Klngstown, he of Westerly, 
ELIZABETH CARPENTER of So. Kingstown, m. perf. 
by Joseph Crandall\, Just ice. Ch.: BARBARA (b. 
17 Jan. 1760 at Horkinton; m. 20 Jan. 1779 at 
Westerly, Nicholas Clarke). 

9 
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(15) iv. BARBER4 WELLS, b.j 16 May 1740 (1750 in the VR). 
v. poss. THOMAS4 WElLS, d.y. 
v. JOSHUA4 WELLS, bl. 4 August 1743 (1753 in the 

VR); m. SYLVIA CLARKE, b. 1750/1 to Christo­
pher4 (Samuel 3 , Jdseph2- 1 ) and Elizabeth (Bliss) 
Clarke and if sojhe d. 28 May 1834 in his 92nd 
yr. and hence b.lca. 1741/2. There is no rec. 
of ch. in RI, but in the 1777 military census 
he was at Hopkin~on as was "Joshua, Jr." who 
was Joshua4 (Tho~as~~1 ), being the younger of 
the two in this place. 

I 

\ 

10. PETER3 (PETER2 , PETER1 ) WELLS, was born 4 May 1713 

(16) 

and was still alivei in 1776. He married on 1 
February 1736/7 at Watwick, ELIZABETH ARNOLD, dau. 
of Stephen4 (Israe13 , Stephen2 , William1 ) and Sarah 
(Greene) Arnold, b. 1~ Mar. 1710/11 and she died 29 
Sept. 1739. He married second, 23 November 1740 at 
Warwick, RUTH SLOCUM, daughter of Ebenezer3 (Giles2 , 

Anthony1 ) and Naomi <8iarton) Slocum (Slocum, 1882, 
p. 49). By 1753 he was ~t Cranston where he appeared 
in the 1774 census. He\and wife Ruth made a deed for 
Exeter land to Benjamin Barton on 22 Apri 1 1776 
(RIGR 20:380) and it m~y have been at this time that 
the family rem. to ch9shire, MA. 

Children of PETER3 andi ELIZABETH (ARNOLD) WELLS: 
i. ANNA4 WELLS, b. 23 September 1736; d. 1819 at 

Cheshire, MA; m. l 25 March 1753 at Cranston, 
STUKELY WESTCOTT J son of Stukely and Bethia 
(Westcott) Westcdtt (Arnold, 1935, p. 116). 

ii. ARNOLD4 WELLS, bl 11 February 1737/8; m. 24 
January 1762 at Warwick, BARBARA UTTER, dau. 
of Wi 11 iam3 (Zebtllon2 , Wi 11 iam1 ) and Barbara 
(Burlingame) Utter, he of Cranston in the rec. 
She was b. 1741 ~t Warwick (Waterman, Utter & 
Utter, 1941). He ~as not in the 1777 military 
census of RI. 

iii. ELIZABETH4 WELLS, b. 18 September 1739. 
I 
I 

Children of PETER3 and RUTH (SLOCUM) WELLS, all born 
at Warwick, Kent county, Rhode Island: 

i. JOHN4 WELLS, b. 30 Nov 1744. 
ii. NAOMI 4 WELLS, b. 3o Mar 1747. 

iii. MARY4 WELLS, b. 29 Feb 1748. 
iv. BARBARA4 WELLS, b.j 28 Jan 1749; m. 7 September 

1775 at Warwick, JOHN LOW. (see GRIF 1:544 for 
ch.) I 

~o 
I 

I 
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v. SAMUEL 4 WELLS, b ·i 5 Oct 17 50. May be the Samuel 
whom. ELIZABETH COGGESHALL and had son WILLIAM 
b. ca. 1775 at Kingstown. 

I 
11. JOHN3 (PETER2 , PETER1 )\WELLS was born 14 April 1716 

at South Kingston, RIJ He married on 5 October 1740 
I 

at Warwick, BARBARA (HOLDEN) WICKES, widow of Rich-
ard Wickes and daughter of Charles, Jr. and Penelope 
(Bennett) Holden, borrt 13 Sept. 1717 (Greene, 1903, 
p. 80). He was at walrwick in the 1747 census of 
voters and in the cedsus of 1774. In 1777 he was 
listed as over 60 andlstill at Warwick. 

I 
Children of JOHN3 a~d BARBARA (HOLDEN)(Wickes) 
WELLS: i 

i. PENELOPE4 WELLS, b. 18 June 1741 at So. Kings­
town; m. 20 March 1760 at Warwick, OLIVER 
GREENE, son of ! Barlow and Lydia (Hardin/ 
Harding) Greene, i b. 10 Sept. 1740 (Greene, 
1903, p. 99). I 

ii. MARY4 WELLS, b. 12 June 1743. 
iii. CHARLES4 WELLS, bl. 2 March 17 44/5; not in the 

1777 military cetisus. 
iv. BARBARA4 WELLS, b ·\ 28 July 17 49; m. 13 May 1767 

at Warwick, NATHA'.NIEL FROTHINGHAM. 
v. ANSTRESS HOLDEN4 WELLS, b. 19 April 1752; unm. 

in 1782, but by 1i798 m. to ---- BRATON (GRIF, 
1989, 1:543). I 

vi. JOHN HOLDEN4 WELL~, b. 12 September 1755. 

i 
12. BENJAMIN4 (PETER3 , THOMAS2 , PETER1 ) WELLS was born 24 

December 1745 at West !Greenwich, RI and was alive 
in 1781 (fa.'s will);~. ca. 1764, SARAH REYNOLDS; 
res. at West Greenwic~ in 1774. He was not in the 
1777 mi 1 i tary census. I 

Children of BENJAMIN4 ~nd SARAH (REYNOLDS) WELLS: 
i. ELIZABETH5 WELLS,1 b. 31 March 1765; m. PETER 

I 

CRANDALL of West ~reenwich. 
ii. SUSANNA5 WELLS, b~ 23 April 1767. 

iii. SARAH5 WELLS, b. io December 1768. 
iv. JOANNA5 WELLS, b. I 21 October 1770. 
v. MARTHAs WELLS, b. 

112 June 1772. 
vi. LYDIA5 WELLS, b. 15 January 1774; may have m. 

NOAH BAKER. I 
vii. ANNAS WELLS, b. 23 April 1775. 
viii.ISABEL5 WELLS, b. \November 1776. 

ix. BENJAMIN5 WELLS, ti. 6 March 1778. 
x. GEORGES R. WELLS, b. 10 December 1779. 1r:-oo~Jt~ 

..- " 0 , , ~. i T\.1 (' l\ L ~ r '~· ·1 ' i · .. '. ~ 1 \ 
1 n r" t''- ~"' r: ,___ ~ .. . . , . ,... . . . ---1y 
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DAVIDS WELLS, b. i 15 January 1781. 
PETERS WELLS, b. 120 August 1787. 

I 

13. JAMES4 (BENJAMIN3 , JOHN2 , PETER1 ) WELLS was born 27 
March 1734 at North Kingstown, RI, and he died 4 

I 

September 1823 at Foster, RI. He married in 1756, 
MARTHA SLOCUM, poss. dau. of Peleg5 (Giles4 , samuel3 , 

Gi les2
, Anthony1 ) and 1Avis (Stanton) Slocum, b. 9 

June 1731 at Newport i<slocum, op.cit., p. 88); m. 
2nd, 15 November 1~61 at Coventry, FREELOVE 
AYLESWORTH, dau. of Philip, who remembered her in 
his 14 Nov. 1789 wilJ (RIGR 3:3:274). She d. in 
April of 1815. On 23 Oct. 1769 he bought from Thomas 
Fenner a small farm onlHoward Hill at Scituate, RI, 
this farm later in Fo~ter, and res. there the rest 
of his life. He servedlin the militia 1775-1785 and 
was made a Lt. (This family from Wright & Tuthill.) 

i 
Children of JAMES 4 and!I MARTHA (SLOCUM) WELLS: 

i. WAITY5 WELLS, b. 1757; d. 11 April 1841 at 
Enfield, CT, to which she rem. after the d. of 

I 

her husb.; m. SAMUEL FOSTER, b. 1746 and d. 
1816, son of Stephen and Lydia (Blanchard) 
Foster (Crandall,! 1942, p. 10). She d. in a 
Shaker community., 

ii. JOHN5 WELLS, b. ti4 February 17 59; d. 9 March 
1842 at Hartwick,! NY. 

i 

Children of JAMES4 and FREELOVE (AYLESWORTH) WELLS: 
iii. PHILIPS WELLS, b. 1763; m. ELIZABETH GREENE. 
iv. BENJAMIN5 WELLS, ii. 1835; m. 30 Mar. 1788 at 

Foster, RI, PHEBE MANCHESTER. 
v. JOSHUA5 WELLS, b. 1767; d. 1835 in Otsego co., 

NY; m. ANNE MANCHE·STER. Is he poss. the Joshua, 
age 80, who in 1S50 was in Madison co., NY, 
with son GEORGE rnd dau.-in-law Olive (RIGR 
4:2:102)? i 

vi. CALEB5 WELLS, m. 
1

!18 February 1790 at Foster, 
ROSANNE PETERSON. I 

vii. ESTHERs WELLS, m. ica. 1801, THOMAS FOSTER. 
viii.MARYS WELLS, m. 1? January 1802, NATHAN KING. 

ix. PHEBEs WELLS, m. j 12 January 1806, NATHANIEL 
GREENE. 

x. JAMES 5 WELLS, m. 3 November 1797 at Foster, 
LYDIA MANCHESTER. 

xi. SUSANNAHs WELLS, b. 7 August 1780; m. PARDON 
ANGEL. I 

xii. FREELOVE5 WELLS, Im. 22 October 1815, PELEG 
DAMON. 

12 
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14. JAMES4 
( JAMES3 , PETER2 , PETER1 ) WELLS was born 1 

November 1732 at South Kingstown, RI, and died in 
1809. He married ca. l756/7, RUTH, prob. HANNAH. He 
and wife Ruth deeded Richmond land to Desire Hannah 
of South Kingston, spinster, on 12 Dec. 1757 (RIGR 
3:1:65). This same D~sire Hannah left a will 26 
April 1778 at Hopkintoh mentioning the wife of James 
who was prob. her sisl James4 left a will dated 16 
Feb. 1810, pro. at Hopkinton 19 Apr. 1810 (Bk. 4, 
p. 192). He ment ch. George, Polly, Nancy, Hannah, 
and James, Jr. He wasilisted as living at Westerly 
in 1755, Hopkinton in 1774, and 1777 at which latter 
time he was over 60. i 

Children of JAMES4 aJd RUTH (HANNAH?) WELLS, all 
born at Hopkinton, Rhdde Island: 

i. ELIZABETHs WELLS, jb. 14 June 1758; not in fa.'s 
Will. I 

ii. JAMESS WELLS' b. '17 January 1760. He is prob. 
the James who was a pvt. in the Revolution and 
d. 29 April 1835 ~t Hopkinton leaving wid. ANN 
who appt. Benjamih Thurston her atty. to claim 
his pension on 7 ~ec. 1835 (Gunning, 1999. p. 
261) . : 

iii. ROBERTS WELLS, bl. 26 November 1761 ; not in 
fa.'s will. 1 

iv. GEORGES WELLS' b.i 9 November 1763; m. 15 Oct 
1789 by Elder Joshua Clarke of Westerly, LYDIA 
DODGE, dau. of oliver and Dorothy Dodge, ment. 
in her fa.'s 10 Apr. 1811 will (RIGR 4:336). 

v. POLLYS WELLS, b. 4i April 1767; may be the Mary 
who m. at South K~ngstown, SHERMAN BAKER. 

vi. HANNAHS WELLS, b. ·16 April 1769. 
viii.RUTHS WELLS, b. 6 September 1770; not in fa.'s 

will. 
ix. ANNAS WELLS, b. 5 March 1774; not in fa. 's 

wi11. I 
x. NANCYs WELLS (from will; no. b. rec.). 

I 
15. BARBER4 ( JAMES3 , PETER2\, PETER1 ) WELLS was born 16 

May 1740 at South King$town, RI, and died in 1786. 
He married REBECCA CLARKE. He left a will dated 10 
May 1786, pro. 3 Jully 1786 at Hopkinton (RIGR 
4:2:140) naming wf. Rebecca, son Clarke under 21, 
Barber under 21, and J6hn as well as dau. Susannah 
under 18. He is listed in the 1774 census at Hopkin­
ton, but is not in thel1777 military census.· 
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I 
Children of BARBER4 a~d REBECCA (CLARKE) WELLS: 

i. JOHNS WELLS, b. J ca. 1764 (of age at fa., s 
will). I 

ii. CLARKEs WELLS, b.\ ca. 1766 (under age at fa.'s 
will). 

iii. BARBERS WELLS; b.i ca. 1768 (under age at fa.'s 
will); m. 26 September 1799 at Hopkinton, 
FRANCES STILLMANJ she "Fannie" in the rec. Had 
at Hopkinton: P~BE (b. 19 Aug. 1800); JOHN 
ALDRICH (b. 17 Nov. 1801). 

iv. SUSANNAHSWELLS, b. ca. 1770 (under 18 at fa.'s 
will); m. 27 Febrbary 1791 at South Kingstown, 

I ROBERT BROWN, Jr.\ Had a son George W. Brown who 
m. Sarah Slocum ~Slocum, op.cit., p. 173) and 
prob. others. ] 

I 

16. JOHN4 (PETER3 , PETER2 ,j PETER1 ) WELLS was born 30 
November 1744 at WarW:ick, RI, and married 23 Dec 
1770 at Warwick, SARAH\HOLDEN, marr. perf. by Elder 
Charles Holden. She was the dau. of Col. Randal 1 and 
Rose (Wicks) Holden whose fa. left her £1000 and 
furniture in his will lin 1785 (Putnam, 1923). John 
appeared in the 1774 c~nsus at Warwick and was over 
60 in the 1777 militatiy census of Warwick. 

I 
Children of JOHN4 and SARAH (HOLDEN) WELLS: 

i. CHARLESS WELLS, b. 6 January 1772; d. before 
1800 when his widJ m. William Greene; m. 22 Mar 
1795 at Warwick,! ROSANNA LOW and had dau. 
HARRIET who m. Sirrion Ray (Greene & Clark, 1903, 
p. 391). i 

ii. ROSE5 WELLS, b. 10 Aug 1773. 
iii. RANDALL5 WELLS, bi 3 Apr 1776; m., if she was 

not the wf. of Randall, son of Edward3 , Thom­
as2, Thomas 1 ) for\ whom see the Thomas Wells 
family, PATIENCE COON/MACOON. 

l 
THOMAS WELLS of We,terly, Rhode Island 

Savage (4:478f.) tellslus that THOMAS 1 WELLS was in 
New London, Connecticut, in 1648 and after 1661 removed 
to Ipswich where he was a ship builder and had a grant 
of land in 1649. In 1677 he bargained with Amos Richard­
son to build a vessel for hirrt at Stonington, Conn., which 
resulted in a lawsuit in 16SO about which more further. 
At that time he had two son~, Joseph, age 22 and Thomas 
17 who were witnesses. He !later removed to Westerly, 
Rhode Island, where he died on 12 February 1700. His will 
of 27 December 1699 named koseph, Thomas, Mary, Ruth, 

I 
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THOMAS WELLS FAMILY 
! 

Sarah, John and Nathaniel. I, His wife was NAOMI MARSHALL, 
daughter of Edmund1 and Millicent (Blieman) Marshall, 
baptized at Salem on 24 January 1637. Their marriage took 
place 22 February 1654/5 at Salem, Mass. 

Austin (p. 218) notes\ that his oldest son, Joseph, 
was born at Boston on 7 June 1656 and that in July of 
1677 THOMAS 1 bought 180 acres of Amos Richardson of 
Stonington, Conn., agreeing\ to pay him for it by building 
one or more vessels of fi~ty tons in all. His contract 
with Richardson called him ~

1
'of Ipswich, shipwright." The 

land purchased was on the east side of the Pawcatuck 
River and thus was in territory long in dispute between 
Connecticut and Rhode Island. In 1679 THOMAS 1 came to 
Westerly although he had been there a year earlier and 
was warned off by the Rho~e Island authorities as an 
intruder for which reason\ he refused to fulfill his 
contract with Richardson until Richardson made good his 
title to the land. On 17 September 1679 he took the oath 
of allegiance to Rhode Island. In March of 1680 he was 
arrested and imprisoned on 1

1 

the suit of Richardson who 
laid damages at £300. Coinqidentally, the constable was 
Stephen Richardson, son of ~mos, and the authorities of 
Rhode Island retaliated on behalf of THOMAS 1 by arresting 
the Connecticut constable (Richardson) and imprisoning 
him from July to October \since the constable had no 
authority in Rhode Island. i 

His verbal will of 27 ]December 1699 was proved on 
12 February 1700 at Westerly, wife NAOMI named as 
Executor. He called son Jo~eph "eldest son" and stated 
that he had already had his \portion. Son Thomas had also 
received his portion in a horse and neat cattle valued 
at £7. His eldest daughter Mary, daughters Ruth and Sarah 
Wells, and sons John and Nathaniel had all had their 
portions. Wife NAOMI was to

1

have the rest of the estate 
for life and sons Thomas, John and Nathaniel were to 
"take the best care you can

1

of her" and after her death 
these three sons were to receive the remainder of the 
estate. Inventory showed vaiue of £8.16 consisting of a 
cow, mare, swine, bedding, wearing clothes and a spinning 
wheel. ! 

As we noted in the inttoduction to these families, 
it has been said that TH~MAS 1 was born in 1626 in 
Colchester, England, son ori Nathaniel who was born in 
1600 and died in 1681 in Rhode Island. This Nathaniel was 
said to be the son of a Thomas born 1566 at Essex, 
Lancashire, England. This andestry was evidently provided 
by an Albert Wells of New Yo~k, descendant of Nathaniel 2 

(Thomas1 ) and has been passed along by others. We have no 
assurance that this construdtion is correct. 

I 

I 
I 
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THOMAS iLLS FAMILY 

In the 1 ist of free ~nhabi tan ts of the "towne of 
westerle" on 3 March 1679/8b are listed Thomas Wells sen. 
lot 40 and Thomas, Jun. lot 47 (NEHGR, 12:1), but since 
Thomas2 was not born until !1661, he would have been only 
19. We cannot account foil- this listing. The town of 
Westerly was established ip 1685 and in 1757, the town 
of Hopkinton was set off from the northern part of it 
(Griswold, 1877) . i 

Children of THOMAS1 and NAdMI (MARSHALL) WELLS: 
i. JOSEPH2 WELLS, b.11 June 1656 at Boston, MA; d. 

26 October 1711 at Groton, CT; m. 28 December 
1681, HANNAH REYNOLDS of New London, CT, dau. 
of John Reynolds.I Joseph, like his father, was 
a ship builder and, indeed, he is ment. by 
Denison (1878, p .I 57) as "the first shipwright 
in this vicini ty\

1 

[Westerly]" and it is said 
that he bui 1 t a, ship in 1681, this vessel 
called "Alexandeil and Martha" and to be sailed 
from New London. ~oseph moved early to Groton, 
becoming the first ship builder on the Mystic 
River. He left a Will dated 21 Oct. 1711, pro. 
12 Feb. 1712, nf.tming son Joseph Exec. and 
giving to wife Hannah the house and land along 
with the orchard, etc., for life for her 
maintenance. To Son Joseph he left all lands 
and etc. after t~e d. of his wife, he to take 
care of her for life. He also gave sons John 
and Thomas some !land and dau. Anne all his 
cattle at m. except for one cow for his wife's 
use and also the hpusehold stuff after his wife 
d. In 1712, John and Joseph res. at Groton and 
were listed as f~eemen there (Hurd, 1882, p. 
423) . Ch. : Joseph; John; Thomas; Anne. (Ed. 
Note: Despite a s~arch of the VR of CT, we have 
been unable to i~entify mates or ch. for any 
of the descendants of Joseph2 .) 

(2) ii. THOMAS 2 WELLS, b.1 4 December 1661 at Boston, 
MA. I 

iii. MARY2 WELLS, b. 1S April 1665 at Boston, MA; 
d.s.p. 12 Januar~ 1693 at Stonington, CT; m. 
15 December 1690, EZEKIEL MAIN, Jr. Ch.: 
Ezekiel, Jr., b. l5 Dec 1689; d. 24 Dec 1691. 
Ezekiel m. 2nd, 2~ Oct 1695, Hannah Rose and 
d. 20 Oct 1715 at Stonington, CT, leaving a 
large fam. by hisl2nd wf. 

iv. RUTH2 WELLS, b. ca. 1666/7, prob. at Ipswich, 
MA; m. ca. 1690, CTAMES 2 (James 1 ) KENYON, b. 4 
July 1657 in Lanc~shire, ENG (Kenyon, 1935, p. 
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THOMAS WELLS FAMILY 
I 
! 

55). Kenyon ch.:! Sarah (m. Samuel Crandall); 
James; Thomas (m. \Mary Ladd); Ebenezer (m. Amie 
[----] & Elizabe~h [----]); John (m. Abigail 
Ladd); Ruth; Pet

1

er (m. Naomi Wells, dau. of 
Nathaniel 2 ). ! 

v. SARAH2 WELLS, b. [ 27 August 1668 at Ipswich; 
alive in 1699 (fa.'s will). 

vi. JOHN2 WELLS, b. ca. 1670 at Ipswich, MA. He is 
said to have m. ajMARY (GRIP, 1989, 2:682). He 
was presented at court for killing sundry swine 
of George Denisort's on 12 June 1688, but the 
jury found him rtot guilty. (Ed. note: some 
desc. say that hem. 31 Oct. 1698 at Boston, 
ELIZA BICKFORD, but we question this assertion. 
He could have beert the John who m. 15 Dec. 1698 

I 

at Stratford, CT
1

, MARY JUDSON, but that is 
speculation and We have n.f.i.) 

Vll. NATHANIEL2 WELLS, lb. ca. 1672 at Ipswich, MA. 
i 

THOMAS2 (THOMAS1 ) WELL~ was born 4 December 1661 at 
Boston. He died 29 June 1716 at Westerly, Rhode 
Island. He married abou~ 1693, probably at Westerly, 
SARAH, maiden name unknbwn al though many believe her 
to be Sarah Rogers who~ we believe to be the wf. of 
Thomas2 , Peter1 • He left a will dated 11 April 1716, 
proved 9 July 1716, m~king Sarah Executrix. Over­
seers were to be brother Nathaniel and Joseph 
Maxson. He gave Sarahl while widow, use of best 
room, a cow, young mar1e, and best bed and she was 
to have a third of ho~estead this being the part 
that belonged to son Edward. To sons Thomas and 
Edward, land where he lived to be divided. The sons 
received other property and daughter Sarah got a 

I parcel of sheep, cow, aqd household stuff. Inventory 
showed value of £165 .19 consisting of 6 oxen, 6 

I cows, 4 calves, 3 horse~, 14 sheep, 2 lambs, 3 hogs, 
9 pigs, clothes, 3 beds, silver money, cards and 
etc. I 

Children of THOMAS2 and SARAH (----) WELLS: 
I 

i. THOMAS3 WELLS, b. 112 February 1692. 
11. EDWARD3 WELLS, b. 11694. 

iii. SARAH3 WELLS, b.11696; alive in 1716 (fa.'s 
Will). I 

NATHANIEL2 (THOMAS 1 ) wElLs, was born about 1672 at 
Ipswich, Mass. and diedl before 1 May 1769 (probate) 
at Hopkinton, Rhode Is~and. He married about 1706, 
MARY CRANDALL who was horn about 1686 at Newport, 

I 
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THOMAS WELLS FAMILY 

Rhode Island to the Rev. Joseph and Deborah (Bur­
dick) Crandall, and she died in 1763. He left a will 
dated S July 1763, proved 1 May 1769, Executor son 
Jonathan. He left to d~ughter Naomi Kenyon, daughter 
Tacy Burdick, and sorl Jonathan. Inventory valued 
goods at £16.1.3. (Refi.: Crandall, 1949, p. 11.) 

l 
Children of NATHANIEL, and MARY (CRANDALL) WELLS, 
first five in WesterlYi, RI, rec.: 

i. NAOMI 3 WELLS, b. 11 May 1707; m. 15 September 
1726 at Westerly,! PETER KENYON, son of James 
and Ruth (Wells) Kenyon. He was b. 1704 and d. 
23 Sept. 1746. Kenyon ch.: Peter (m. Annie 
Arnold); Nathani~l (m. Eleanor Utter); Mary; 
James. (Ref.: Ken~on, op. cit., p. 66). 

ii. ELI~ABE~H3 WELLS, lb· 9 January 1709/10; not in 
fa. swill. 

1 

iii. JONATHAN3 WELLS, b. 22 June 1712. 
iv. TACY3 WELLS, b. 4 Jan. 1714/S; m. ca. 1734, 

HUBBARD BURDICK.I: Burdick ch.: Thankful; 
Hubbard; Nathaniel; Elijah; Parker; Rufus; 
Tacy; Abel; Joseph. 

v. RUTH3 WELLS, b. 6 Sept. 1717; presum d. before 
her fa. as not inlhis will. 

vi. THOMAS3 WELLS , b. 11 71 9 ; d . y. 
vii. DEBORAH3 WELLS, o

1
• ca. 1720/1; said to have 

d.y. and prob. before 1763 (fa.'s will), but 
ace. to Crandall <[op.cit., p. 12), she was the 
Deborah who m. 13 March 1740 at Stonington, CT, 
THOMAS PARTELOW. i 

i 

THOMAS3 (THOMAs2- 1 ) WELL\s was born 12 February 1692 
at Westerly, Rhode Island and he died in 1770 at 
Hopkinton by which time\he had conveyed all his land 
to his sons. He married on 22 September 1717 at 
Stonington, Conn. by Daniel Palmer, Justice, PHEBE 
GREENE, daughter of Bertjamin2 (John1 ) and Humility 

I (Coggeshall) Greene, bo[n about 1698 at Portsmouth, 
RI (Coggeshall & Coggeshall, 1934, p. 16), her fa. 
leaving to her in his ~ill of 7 January 1718 (pro. 
24 April 1719) as the ~ife of Thomas Wells (RIGR 
1:2:86). On 12 Sept. 1V57 Thomas sold 8 acres of 
land in Hopkinton to son Caleb of Westerly for love 
(RIGR 4:4:314). On 15 ~ugust 1758 he of Hopkinton 
received £10 for 10 acres of land bounded by Thomas 
Wells, Jr. and John jRobinson from the Colony 
Trustees and on 2 July ~759 there was an Indenture 
of Lease to him for hi~ "natural life" from Caleb 
Wells, Joshua Wells, N.thaniel Wells, Jr. all of 

11 



THOMAS ~ELLS FAMILY 

Hopkinton and Thomas Wells of Jamestown (RIGR 
5:1:3). On 7 January 1759 he of Hopkinton sold "for 
love" to his son Nathaniel of Hopkinton 25 acres 
bounded by Joshua Wells, Capt. John Maxson and 
Thomas Wells, Jr. (Ri'GR 5:1:4). Edward Wells, Jr. 
was a witness. On 7 J~nuary 1759 he sold "for love" 
to his son Joshua of Hopkinton 25 acres bounded by 
Caleb Wel 1 s, Thomas Wei 1 s, Jr. and Capt. John Maxson 
(RIGR 5:1:6). (See also Greene, 1894, p. 12f.) 

I 
Children of THOMAS3 and PHEBE (GREENE) WELLS: 

i. PHEBE4 WELLS, b. i October 1718 at Westerly; m. 
24 October 1735 at Westerly, CHRISTOPHER 
EDWARDS, b. 30 Mar 1715 at Stonington, CT. 

ii. LOIS4 WELLS, b. ~O November 1720 at Westerly; 
m. 7 March 1739 at Westerly, THOMAS ROSS, b. 
11 Sept. 1719 aJt Westerly, RI to William2 

(William1 ) and Anne (Lewis) Ross. He rem. to 
Great Barrington,] MA, and remar. (RIGR 3: 1: 4 7). 
(She is mistakenly listed as "Lewis" in the b. 
rec.) : 

(7) iii. THOMAS4 WELLS, b. ! 5 April 1723 at Westerly. 
iv. BENJAMIN4 WELLS ,i b. 23 November 1727 at 

Westerly. He is prob. the Benjamin who in the 
1774 census was a~ West Greenwich as was bro. 
Caleb. I 

v. CALEB4 WELLS, b. lp May 1731 at Westerly; m. 18 
January 1748/9, LOIS COON/MACOON by Benjamin 
Randall , Justice. \He was a freeman at Hopkin ton 
when it was formed in 1757. By 7 Jan. 1759 he 
and bro. Nathaniel, both of Hopkinton, had 
built tan works iri partnership on Caleb's land 
and half the prof~ts were to go to Nathaniel 
and his heirs as ~ong as it operated. He was 
in West Greenwich\ in 1774 with one male under 
16 and one extra f~male over 16. He was not in 
the 1777 mi 1 i tarY, census of RI nor was son 
William. Known ch. LOIS; WILLIAM (m. Ruth 
Burdick). I 

vi. JOSHUA4 WELLS, b. 29 October 1733 at Hopkin ton; 
m. 15 February 17S9 at Stonington, CT, ELIZA­
BETH "Dartts" (DA~T?) of Stonington by Elder 
Waite Palmer. In i 1774 and 1777 he res. at 
Hopkinton where he was listed as "Joshua, Jr" 
since he was yotinger than Joshua4 ( James3 , 

Peter2- 1 ) who was also there. Ch.: GARDNER (b. 
20 Mar. 1770; m. 2~ Dec. 1792 at Voluntown, CT, 
Wealthy Gallup); JOSHUA, Jr. (b. 17 July 1771) 
and prob. more. ~Greene, 1894, p. 10, says 

I 
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Joshua4 m. Elizabeth Partelow and was a clergy­
man). 

vii. SARAH4 WELLS, b. 21 August 1735; m. 4 May 1754 
at Glocester, THOMAS WOOD. 

(8) viii.NATHANIEL4 WELLS , "Nathan" in the b. rec., b. 
12 February 1737. 

ix . NAOMI 3 WELLS, b. 12 February 173 7, twin to 
Nathaniel; n.f .r. and prob . d.i. 

5 . EDWARD3 (THOMAS 2 , THOMAS 1 ) was born in 1694 at 
Westerly, Rhode Island and he died before 17 Decem­
ber 1765 at Hopkinton, leaving a will dated 22 
August 1764 and proved 17 December 1765. He married 
on 12 January 1725/6 at Stonington , CT, also 
recorded at Westerly, Rhode Island, ELIZABETH 
RANDALL of Stonington, John Richmond, Justice , 
offic . Witnesses were Thomas and Joshua Wells and 
John Maxson, Jr. (RIGR 4:2 : 137) . In 1748 he and son 
Edward lived at Westerly in the part later set off 
as Hopkinton. He was appt. Sealer of Weights and 
Measures and Viewer of Lumber. On 8 April 1761 he 
deeded 10 acres at Hopkinton "for love to son Thomas 
Tay lor" (RIGR, 5:3:217). His will left to wife 
Eli z abeth, to sons Hazard, Edward, David, Matthew, 
Thomas and Randall and to daughter Sarah (unmarried) 
and two daughters not named. He also left to 
grandson Stephen. (Ed. Note: If he had a dau . who 
m. a Thomas Taylor we have found no record of her . ) 

Children of EDWARD3 and ELIZABETH (CRANDALL) WELLS: 
i. HAZARD4 WELLS, b. ca. 1724; alive in 1764 

(named in fa.'s will) . 
(9) ii. EDWARD4 WELLS, b . 23 February 1726/7 at 

Westerly, RI. 
(10) iii . JOSEPH4 WELLS , b. 16 April 1729 at Westerly . 

iv. DAVID4 WELLS, b. 20 July 1731 at Westerly; m. 
12 May 1756 at Stonington, CT, ANNA LANGWORTHY, 
dau. of Thomas 3 (Robert2 - 1 ) and Content 
(Sanford) Langworthy and shed. 18 Sept. 1756 
(Langworthy, 1940, p. 97) ; m. 2nd, HANNAH 
STILLMAN. On 11 Oct. 1756 he and wife Anna 
(Hannah) sold 21 acres of land in Hopkinton to 
Samuel Maxson of Westerly (RIGR 5:1:2) . 

v. ELIZABETH4 WELLS, b. 13 October 1733 at 
Westerly; may be the Elizabeth who m. 5 January 
1758 at Hopkinton, JONATHAN CRANDALL if it was 
not Elizabeth (formerly Dinah) , dau. of Peter3 

(Thomas 2 , Peter1 ) q.v . If so, she was b . six 
years before he was (16 Feb. 1739/40) and he 
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m. at age 18. Crandall (1949, p. 57) says that 
Elizabeth, wife bf Jonathan (b. to Joseph and 
Elizabeth [Crandall] Crandall) was b. 10 Dec. 
1739 which would favor the other Elizabeth. 
Crandall also says they m. 30 April 1760 which 
would make sens~ because their first ch., 
Tryphena, was b.\ 29 Apr. 1761. However, the 
other Elizabeth lived in West Greenwich. 

vi. MATTHEW4 WELLS, ; b. 17 February 1735/6 at 
Westerly. i 

vii. THOMAS4 WELLS, !. b. 13 September 1738 at 
Westerly. . 

viii.MARY4 WELLS, b. 171 October 1740; m. 16 December 
1761 at Hopkintoq, OLIVER CLARKE. 

ix. JOHN4 WELLS, b. 4 June 1742; prob. d. before 
fa. as not in his will. 

x. THANKFUL 4 WELLS, • b. 6 December 1745 ; m. 26 
December 1762 at Hopkinton, SIMEON HISCOCK; m. 
2nd, 6 January 1765 at Richmond, EDWARD LILLI­
BRIDGE (she surnamed "Wells" in the rec.) . Li 1-
libridge ch.: Dorcas; Mary; Patience; Lydia; 
Edward; Amos (m. Phoebe Hoxsie) (GRIF 1:64). 

xi. RANDALL4 WELLS, b~ 30 September 1747. 
xii. SARAH4 WELLS, b. l6 July 1751. 

I 
I 

JONATHAN3 (NATHANIEL2 , THOMAS 1 WELLS was born 22 June 
1712 at Westerly, RI, apd d. before 4 April 1785 at 
Hopkinton when his will of 5 Mar 1772 was proved. 
He m. 29 November 17J4 at Westerly, Elder John 
Maxson offic., ELIZABEfrH MAXSON, dau. of Joseph3 

(John2 , Richard1 ) and Tacy (Burdick) Maxson by whom 
he had a son Jonathan \who d. i.; m. 2nd, REBECCA, 
maiden name unk. He wasjstill m. to Elizabeth on 24 
April 1747 when her faj named her in his will. He 

I 

res. at Westerly in 1753. He and sons Elnathan and 
Jonathan, Jr. were witnesses to the 29 April 1765 
will of Joseph Lawton o~ Hopkinton (RIGR 4:2:137). 
He and sons were in the 1777 mi 1 i tary census at 
Hopkinton, he over 60 yrs. of age. His ch. are said 
to be by his 2nd wf. 1 

Children of JONATHAN3 artd REBECCA (-----) WELLS: 
i. ELNATHAN4 WELLS, dJs.p. before 20 August 1804 

when will of 2 Jult 1804 was pro. in which he 
ment. his fa. Jonathan and sis. Elizabeth 
Babcock, wife of \Pe 1 eg, and her ch. (RI GR 
5:3:279). In 1777 he res. at Hopkinton. 

ii. JONATHAN4 WELLS, m.\ 6 Jun 1767 by John Maxson, 
Justice, at Hopkinton, AMY ROGERS. He was in 

I 
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the military census at Hopkinton in 1777 with 
his bro. Elnatha~. Ch. b. at Hopkinton: ELIZA­
BETH ( b . 11 Feb . 176 9 ) ; MARY ( b . 2 9 Oct . 177 3 ) . 

iii. ELIZABETH4 WELLS, b. 11 February 1769; m. 18 
Jun 1789 at Hopkinton, PELEG BABCOCK. 

THOMAS4 (THOMAS3 , THOMAS2 , THOMAS 1 ) WELLS was b. 5 
April 1723 at Westetly, RI and he d. before 7 
November 1796; m. 3 April 1745, SARAH THOMPSON. On 
24 Mar. 1761 he bought I from William Guile of Hopkin­
ton, 67 acres which on 4 Sept. that yr. he and wife 
Sarah sold to his bro.I Nathaniel (RIGR 5:3:223). It 
was he who did the mil~tary census for Hopkinton in 
1777, submitting it o.n 19 Apr. He served as town 
clerk for Hopkinton from 1767 to 1770, in 1776, from 
1778 to 1782, and in l790 (Griswold, op.cit.). He 
was also a Deputy from Hopkinton to the General 
Assembly at Newport from 1769 to 1772 and in 1774 
and 1775. He left a will at Hopkinton dated 5 Oct. 
1778, pro. 7 Nov. 1796~ In it he left to wf. Sarah, 
sons Thompson, Henry, Thomas and Amos and daus. Lois 
Lewis, Sarah Lewis, Eu.nice Rathbun and Phebe Wells 
(RIGR 5:2:275). I 

I 
Children of THOMAS 4 and SARAH (THOMPSON) WELLS: 

i. THOMPSON5 WELLS, b. ca. 1746. 
ii. HENRY5 WELLS, b. ca. 1748; m. MERCY LITTLE­

FIELD. 
iii. THOMAS5 WELLS, b. :ca. 1750. 
iv. AMOS 5 WELLS, b. cal 1752; m. BETSEY GRIFFEN. He 

was in the 1777 military census at Hopkinton. 
v. LOIS5 WELLS, b. ca~ 1754; m. 16 January 1772 at 

Hopkinton, BERIAH:LEWIS. 
vi. SARAH5 WELLS, b. c~. 1756; m. 28 April 1777 at 

Hopkinton, ISRAEL\LEWIS. 
Vll. EUNICE5 WELLS, b. ~a. 1758; m. 28 June 1784 at 

Hopkinton, JOHN RATHBUN. 
viii. PHEBE5 WELLS, b. c~. 1760; m. JOSEPH POTTER, b. 

16 Feb. 1759 to George and Content (Maxson) 
Potter (Brown, 19S6). 

I 
NATHAN(IEL) 4 (THOMAS3 , tHOMAS 2 , THOMAS 1 ) was born 12 
February 1737 at Hopkinton and d. at Scituate before 
12 March 1764 (date of ~ro. of will of 21 May 1759); 
m. 9 March 1758 at Hop~inton, MARY THURSTON, b. 27 
Aug. 1737 at Little cdmpton to George and Keziah 
Thurston. He was calledl"Jr." in RI rec. because he 
was younger than uncle Nathaniel who did not die 
until 1769. On 2 Jan. ~161 he and Mary sold 16 acres 
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at Hopkinton, bound ~Y James Wells, Francis West, 
and George Thurston, to Thomas West (RIGR 5:3:219). 
On 2 July 1761 he and Mary sold other land to 
Francis West (RIGR 5:3:22). In his will he left to 
wife Mary, sons John, Nathaniel and Shadrack, and 
dau. Lovel Felt (RIGR1 4:1:82). According to Greene 
(1894, p. 13) he had ~h. George, Keziah, Nathaniel 
and others. If one adds John, Shadrack and Lovel, 
this makes for six children, all born between 1758 
and 1764, a period of ~ix years which seems strange 
and, in fact, this will is dated in 1759 by which 
time he had had three children in one year! Is there 
another Nathaniel?? 

Possible Children of NATHANIEL4 and MARY (THURSTON) 
WELLS: 

i. JOHN5 WELLS, b. ca. 1758; m. RUTH BURDICK. 
ii. NATHANIEL5 WELLS, b. ca. 1760. 

iii. SHADRACK5 WELLS, b. ca. 1762. 
iv. LOVEL5 WELLS, b. ~a. 1763/4; m. ---- FELT. 
v. GEORGE5 WELLS, b. unk.; not in fa. 's will if 

this is his fa. 
vi. KEZIAH5 WELLS, b. l unk. ; not in fa. 's wi 11 if 

this is his fa. 1 

9. EDWARD4 (EDWARD3 , THOMAS 2 , THOMAS 1 ) WELLS was b. 23 
February 1726/7 at Westerly, RI, and he m. 25 
December 1749 at Hopkinton by Benjamin Randall, 
Justice, ELIZABETH SHEFFIELD, b. 1 Oct. 1728 at 
Westerly. He d. in 179~. Cutter (op. cit., p. 2087) 
says he was b. at Hopkinton, but his b. is in the 
VR of Westerly. He was\ a Lt. in the Fourth Co. of 
Westerly and in 1757-8!was Capt. of the Second Co. 

I 

of Hopkinton. He was also a deputy to the General 
Assembly from Hopkinto~ from 1758 to 1761 and in 
1767-68. From 1786 to l789 he was a justice of the 
inferior Ct. of common\ pleas and general sessions 
of the peace for Washington co. He appeared in the 
1777 military census at Hopkinton age 50-60. 

i 
I 

Children of EDWARD4 and ELIZABETH (SHEFFIELD) WELLS, 
most being recorded at \Hopkinton: 

i. SARAH5 WELLS, b. 19 & d. 21 November 1750. 
ii. CATHERINE5 WELLS, b. 23 October 1752. 

iii. STEPHEN5 WELLS, b .1 4 Apri 1 1754. 
iv. SHEFFIELD5 WELLS, \

1

b. 21 December 1755; d. 11 
November 1759. 

I 

l 
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v. LUCYs WELLS, b. 18 September 1757; prob. the 
TACY WELLS whom. 19 December 1782 at Hopkin­
ton, PERRY BURDICK. 

vi. CYNTHIAs WELLS, b. 22 September 1759 at 
Westerly; prob. m. STEPHEN RANDALL. 

vii . FANNIES WELLS, b . 19 January 1761; m. cousin 
ELIAS WELLS. 

(16) viii.EDWARD SHEFFIELDs WELLS, b. 9 June 1765 at 
Westerly. 

10 . JOSEPH4 
( EDWARD3 , THOMAS 2 THOMAS 1 ) WELLS was born 16 

April 1729 at Westerly, RI and he d. before his fa. 
who d. in 1765. He m. ca. 1755, MERCY LILLIBRIDGE 
of Westerly. 

Children of JOSEPH4 and MERCY (LILLIBRIDGE) WELLS 
born at Hopkinton , RI : 

i. MARY/MERCYs WELLS, b. 11 October 17 56; m. 
BENJAMIN HOXSIE. 

(17) 11. SAMUELS WELLS, b. 6 February 1758. 
iii. THANKFULs WELLS, b. 23 March 1761; m. 15 

October 1780, ZEBULON PENDLETON. 
iv . JOSEPHS WELLS, b. 18 May 1763. 

11. MATTHEW4 (EDWARD3 , THOMAS 2 , THOMAS 1 ) WELLS was born 
17 February 1735/6 at Westerly, RI, and he m. 5 
January 1758 at Hopkinton, BRIDGET BURDICK, Joshua 
Clarke, Justice offic.; m. 2nd, 18 December 1788 at 
Hopkinton by Elder John Burdick, ELIZABETH COON, 
dau. of David Coon. His 1st four ch . were b. at 
Hopkinton. 

Children of MATTHEW3 and BRIDGET (BURDICK) WELLS: 
1. ELISHAs WELLS , b. 19 September 1758; m. 28 June 

1787 at Westerly by Elder Isaiah Wilcox, EUNICE 
WILCOX, dau . of David Wilcox of Westerly, 
dec'd . Elisha and his bro. Elias were at Hop­
kinton in 1777 for the military census, both 
between 16 and 50. Ch. b. at Westerly: EUNICE 
( b. 31 Mar . 1788) ; ELI SHA ( b. 20 Aug . 1 789) ; 
AMEY (28 Jan. 1791). 

ii. BATHSHEBAS WELLS, b. 6 July 1760; m. 
SEAMAN. 

iii. JOHNs WELLS, b. 3 December 1763; m. 16 June 
1788 at Hopkinton, SARAH RIDER and had dau. 
BATHSHEBA b. 19 Ap r . 1789 there. 

1v. ELIASs WELLS , b . 3 Jan 1762/3; m. cousin FANNIE 
WELLS , dau. of Edward 4 • 

v. ALEANJA ORCANUS 5 WELLS, b . ca. 1766. 
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vi. CATLEY WELCOMES WELLS, b. ca. 1768. 
Vll. PARDONS WELLS, b~ ca. 1769; m. HANNAH HAKES. 
viii.NELLIE5 WELLS, b. ca. 1770. 

ix. MATTHEWS WELLS, b. 18 December 1788; m. 15 
October 1813 at Hopkinton, WELATHA BURDICK. 

12. THOMAS4 ( EDWARD3 , THOMAS 2 , THOMAS1 ) WELLS was born 13 
September 1738 at Westerly and he m. 17 September 
1761 at Richmond, Rl,

1

! SARAH CLARKE who was b. 15 
June 1745 at Richmond,! RI. All their ch. were b. at 
Richmond. 1 

Children of THOMAS4 and SARAH (CLARKE) WELLS: 
i. CLARKEs WELLS, b. 1 8 July 1762. 

ii. JOSEPH5 WELLS, b., 2 September 1764; m. SYLVIA 
WELLS, dau of Randall, and rem. to OH. 

iii. DAVIDS WELLS, b. 2 April 1766. 
iv. MARY5 WELLS, b. 2 '· December 1768; m. 1 January 

1788 at Hopkinton:, JOB. B. CLARKE. 
v. ANNES WELLS, b. 1 ;I Jan 1770. 

I 

i 

13. RANDALL4 (EDWARD3 , THOMAS2 , THOMAS 1 ) WELLS was born 
30 September 1747 at We~terly, RI and he d. in 1821. 
He m. ca. 1770, LOIS ·1 MAXSON. He served as town 
treasurer from 1806 tol

1 

1811. He left a will dated 
2 July 1821, pro. 5 No~. 1821. He named ch. Sylvia, 
Randall, Harris, Thomas v., and Barton. His ch. are 
rec. at Hopkinton whichiwas formed from Westerly and 
he appeared at Hopkinton in the 1777 mi 1 i tary census 
age 16-50. · 

Children of RANDALL 4 ana LOIS (MAXSON) WELLS: 
i. RUSSELLS WELLS, b.\ ca. 1771; m. 5 Aug 1802 by 

Joseph Potter, Justice, LYDIA CRANDALL, dau. 
of Phineas Crandal::!. 

ii. SYLVIAs WELLS, b. \ca. 1773; m. cousin JOSEPH 
WELLS. This couple is ment. in Denison (op. 
cit., p. 148) as being among those who rem. to 
Muskingum co., OH,i and Sylvia is reported as 
having twice made the journey back to Westerly 
by horseback. 

iii. RANDALL5 WELLS, b. ca. 177 5; may have m. 
PATIENCE COON/MACOON if it was not Randall, son 
of John4 (Peter3- 2- 1 ) who m. her. 

iv. BARTONs WELLS, b. ca. 1781. He m. and had a son 
Randall ment. in hls fa.'s will. 

v. HARRISS WELLS, b. 22 Jan 1783. 
vi. THOMAS5 WELLS, m. 11820, SUSAN WELLS. 

! 
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14. THOMPSONS (THOMAS4 , THOMAS3 , THOMAS 2 , THOMAS1 ) WELLS 
was b. ca. 17 46. He m. ! 24 Dec 1767, ELIZABETH PALMER 
& 2nd, 27 September 1782 at Westerly, Elder Isaiah 
Wilcox offic., PHEBE ~LLIS of Charlestown. He res. 
at Westerly and Hopki:nton where had ch. He was in 
the 1774 census at Hopkinton, but not in the 1777 
military census of RI~ 

I 

Children of THOMPSONS ~nd ELIZABETH (PALMER) WELLS: 
i. RHODA6 WELLS, b .:. 14 May 1768; m. ca. 1792, 

ELNATHAN CLARKE. · 
(18) ii. PALMER6 WELLS, b.1 31 March 1771. 

iii. ELIZABETH6 WELLS,j b. 28 August 1773. 

15. 

iv. THOMPSON6 WELLS, b. 16 June 1776; d. before 4 
March 1811 at Hopkinton; m. PHEBE POTTER. 

v. MARY6 WELLS, b. 2J November 1778. 

Children of THOMPSON and PHEBE (ELLIS) WELLS, all 
but last ch. b. at Wes\terly, RI: 
vi. ABBY6 WELLS, b.:1 12 November 1785; m. 18 

December 1812, ALPHEUS M. GREENE. 
vii. PHEBE6 WELLS, b. ll May 1787. 
viii.EUNICE6 WELLS, b. i21 June 1788; m. 17 November 

1810 at Westerly,\ ZEBULON STILLMAN. 
ix. LUCY6 WELLS, b. 16 August 1793. 
x. ABIGAIL6 WELLS, bJ 12 November 1795. 

xi. JOSEPH6 TAYLOR WETILS, b. 14 December 1797. 
xii. ELNATHAN6 CLARKE 1 WELLS, b. 6 May 1800 at 

Hopkinton. · 

THOMASS (THOMAs4- 3- 2- 1 ) wELLS was born about 1750 at 
Westerly, RI; prob. m. !about 1784 at Kingston, MARY 
ROBINSON and d. about 1!1828 at Hopkinton leaving a 
will dated 14 Mar. 1827 and codicil 28 Mar. 1828, 
pro. 1 June 1829. Ini it he named sons Thomas 
Robinson, John, Amos ~ussell, Henry Manning and 
daus. Mary (single), Betsey Perry, Sally Palmer, 
Harriet (single), Char1:lotte Stillman and Juliana 
(single) (RIGR 7:2:157}. His wf. d. in 1828, prob. 
just before the codicil was prepared. 

Children of THOMASS andi MARY (ROBINSON) WELLS, all 
probably born at Hopkinton, Rhode Island: 

1• THOMAS6 ROBINSON WELLS, b. ca. 1785; d. before 
• I 

10 October 1853 at1 So. Kingston; m. 1st, EMMA 
P. (----) and 2nd, 1 ELIZABETH (----). 

ii. MARY6 WELLS, b. ca. 111787; single in 1828 (fa. 's 
wi 11) . 

iii. ELIZABETH6 WELLS, t· ca. 1789; m. ---- PERRY. 
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iv. JOHN6 WELLS, b. ca. 1792; alive in 1828. 
v. CHARLOTTE6 WELLS , b. ca. 1794; m. ---- STILL­

MAN . 
vi. SARAH6 WELLS, b. ca. 1796; m. ----PALMER. 

v11. AMOS 6 RUSSELL, b. ca. 1798; alive in 1828. 
viii.JULIANA6 WELLS, b. ca. 1800; single in 1828. 

ix. HARRIET6 WELLS, b. ca. 1802; single in 1828. 
x . HENRY6 MANNING WELLS, b. ca. 1804; alive in 

1828. 

16. EDWARD SHEFF I ELDs ( EDWARD4
, EDWARD3 , THOMAS2 , 

THOMAS 1
) WELLS was born 9 June 1765 at Westerly , 

R.I. and hem. 6 January 1791, Elder Joshua Clarke 
offic. , LUCY or TACY HUBBARD. He was town treasurer 
for Hopkinton in 1804 and 1805. 

Children of EDWARD SHEFFIELDs and TACY (HUBBARD) 
WELLS: 

i. DANIEL L. 6 WELLS, b. 26 Mar. 1796 at Westerly. 
ii. ELIZABETH6 WELLS, b. 30 April 1797 at Westerly; 

m. 3 April 1813 at Hopkinton , JOHN GREENE, 
Jr.). 

iii. EDWARD SHEFFIELD6 WELLS; m. 30 Apr. 1817 at 
Hopkinton, DEBORAH H. LEWIS. 

1v. JAMES 6 WELLS, m. 20 April 1817 at Hopkinton, 
LUCY GAVITT. 

17. SAMUELS (JOSEPH4 , EDWARD3 , THOMAS 2 , THOMAS 1 ) WELLS 
was born 6 February 1758 at Hopkinton. He m. 29 Nov 
1781, SUSANNA POTTER, dau . of George and Content 
(Maxson) Potter. 

Children of SAMUELS and SUSANAH (POTTER) WELLS, all 
born at Hopkinton, RI: 

i . JOSEPH6 WELLS, b. 7 May 1783; d. 1837 in NY; m. 
LYDIA MAXSON (Brown , 1956). 

ii. SUSANNA6 WELLS, b. 14 November 1788. 
iii. SAMUEL6 WELLS, b . 27 April 1791. 
iv. GEORGE POTTER6 WELLS, b. 14 December 1793. 

v . WILLIAM DAVIS6 WELLS, b. 8 April 1797. 
vi. THANKFUL6 POTTER WELLS, b. 7 August 1803. 

18. PALMER6 (THOMPSONS, THOMAS 4 , THOMAS 3 , THOMAS 2
, 

THOMAS 1 ) WELLS was born 31 March 1771 at Westerly, 
RI. He married on 21 April 1795 at Newport, RI, 
CHARLOTTE COGGESHALL, b. at Newport, RI , and d. 
there 12 Nov. 1801 (Coggeshall & Coggeshall, 1982, 
p . ~\) ; m. 2nd at Westerly, SUSANNAH PERRY. dau. of 
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Jonathan Perry of Sou'ith Kingston, m. perf. by Rev. 
Thomas Kendall on 20 September 1802. 

I 

Children of PALMER6 , and CHARLOTTE (COGGESHALL) 
WELLS: 

i. THOMPSON7 WELLS, :b. 1 Aug. 1796 at Westerly. 
ii. ELISHA7 WELLS, b.; 14 Feb. 1798 at Stonington, 

CT). 

Children of PALMER6 an~ SUSANNAH (PERRY) WELLS: 
iii. PALMER7 WELLS, b.\ 10 Sept. 1803. 
iv. SUSAN7 POTTER WELLS, b. 5 July 1805. 

I 
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